

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

Strategies for Minimizing Defects in Outsourced Products

Kecia Yvonne Ballen Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Kecia Y. Ballen

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Meridith Wentz, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Edgar Jordan, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Judith Blando, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

Abstract

Strategies for Minimizing Defects in Outsourced Products

by

Kecia Y. Ballen

MBA, Averett University, 2011

BS, Hampton University, 1998

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

July 2023

Abstract

Manufacturing leaders who produce airbags need to immediately identify product defects before fulfilling customer orders to enhance customer safety and satisfaction as well as to decrease costs. Grounded in stewardship theory, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies leaders of organizations fabricating parts use for identifying defects in products before fulfilling customers' orders from within the manufacturing industry. The participants were 10 manufacturing leaders from the southeast region of Virginia. Data were gathered from semistructured interviews and document review. Using Yin's 5-step approach, the themes that emerged were (a) communication and relationship with outsourced entities, (b) monitoring and tracking the quality system for product defects, (c) communication and relationship with customer service for defective products, and (d) communication and continuous improvement regarding customer's product defects. A key recommendation from this study is that manufacturing leaders can use the results to identify appropriate strategic planning methods and implement additional effective safety measures. The implications for positive social change can lead to safer vehicles on the highways, which can save lives and reduce recalls that result in financial losses that can affect the stability of jobs in the manufacturing industry.

Strategies for Minimizing Defects in Outsourced Products

by

Kecia Y. Ballen

MBA, Averett University, 2011 BS, Hampton University, 1998

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

July 2023

Dedication

I dedicate this study to my father Walter and my mother Josephine who both instilled in me the importance of education and the will to not only push myself but to also believe that I can accomplish anything through God and hard work. This is also dedicated to my grandmothers Ella Louise who was a school teacher and Delzina, a domestic worker, would have loved to have seen me accomplish this extraordinary desire.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my Chair Dr. Meridith K. Wentz who believed in me in times when I did not believe in myself. She provided mentoring and scholarly professional guidance through my doctoral journey. I would like to thank Dr. Edgar Jordan and Dr. Judy Blando for their feedback and support during the doctoral process. A special thank you to Dr. Reginald Stanley, Rodney Hawkins and Dr. Duane Stephens for our great friendship during residency and beyond. We had great study sessions that assisted in pushing each other to the next level. I would also like to thank Dr. Charles Needham and Dr. Maria Needham for guidance, support, and encouragement.

Table of Contents

Lis	st of Tables	٠٧
Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem and Purpose	2
	Population and Sampling	2
	Nature of the Study	3
	Research Question	5
	Interview Questions	5
	Conceptual Framework	6
	Operational Definitions	7
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	8
	Assumptions	8
	Limitations	8
	Delimitations	9
	Significance of the Study	10
	Contribution to Business Practice	10
	Implications for Social Change	11
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	11
	Stewardship Theory	12
	Constructs for Stewardship Theory	18
	Supporting and Contrasting Theories	22

	Strategies for Addressing Product Defects and Risks	24
	Repercussions of Defective Products and Materials	32
	Product Safety	35
	Cost and Quality	37
	Risk Management	38
	Suppliers and Sub Tier Suppliers	42
	COVID-19	43
	Summary	45
	Transition	46
Se	ction 2: The Project	47
	Purpose Statement	47
	Role of the Researcher	47
	Participants	50
	Research Method and Design	51
	Research Method	51
	Research Design	52
	Population and Sampling	55
	Ethical Research	56
	Data Collection Instruments	58
	Data Collection Technique	59
	Data Organization Technique	63
	Data Analysis	65

Reliability and Validity68
Reliability68
Validity68
Transition and Summary70
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change71
Introduction71
Presentation of the Findings72
Theme 1: Communication and Relationship With Outsourced Entities72
Theme 2: Monitoring System and Tracking the Quality System for
Product Defects75
Theme 3: Communication and Relationship With Customer Service for
Defective Products78
Defective Products
Theme 4: Communication and Continuous Improvement With Customer's
Theme 4: Communication and Continuous Improvement With Customer's Defects
Theme 4: Communication and Continuous Improvement With Customer's Defects
Theme 4: Communication and Continuous Improvement With Customer's Defects
Theme 4: Communication and Continuous Improvement With Customer's Defects
Theme 4: Communication and Continuous Improvement With Customer's Defects
Theme 4: Communication and Continuous Improvement With Customer's Defects

Appendix B: Letter	128
--------------------	-----

List of Tables

Table 1. Literature Review Summary	12
Table 2. Frequency of Theme 1: Use of Communication and Relationship With	
Outsourced Entities	73
Table 3. Frequency of Theme 2: Monitoring System and Tracking the Quality System for	or
Product Defects	76
Table 4. Frequency of Theme 3: Communication and Relationship With Customer	
Service for Defective Products	79
Table 5. Frequency of Theme 4: Communication and Continuous Improvement With	
Customer's Defects	81

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Manufacturing companies consider transferring production and using businesses outside their firms to increase performance, reach new customers, and provide a product or service that benefits both parties (Jha et al., 2020). Businesses using outsourced organizations, that include those using IT software, have witnessed business processes become problematic and challenging when the products and services result in defects and lack of trust (Dutta & Omolayole, 2021). For example, the Japanese company Takata, responsible for airbags in most automobiles, received a fine, which was the largest civil penalty in history, for providing defective airbags and not disclosing all information to the public (National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, 2016).

Background of the Problem

Outsourcing providers for many companies became widespread during the 1990s and specialized in goods and services with a specific level of competency (Krishnan, 2021). The use of outside resources of an organization can be a strategic use of outsourcing to perform activities normally handled by internal resources (Krishnan, 2021). However, discovering the defective product may cause the parent organization's buyer to return the material to the outsourced supplier, or the organization's leaders may decide to recall the product if life-threatening situations occur (Nassar et al., 2020).

The defective design of the air bag by Takata is an example of an outsourced product. Before consumers found the airbags defective, the automotive industry leaders discovered information about the defect (Pietenpol, 2019). By 2019, there were 24 deaths and 300 injuries related to defective airbags (Burke et al., 2020). Before completion of

the defective airbag investigations, some of the biggest automobile leaders such as Fiat Chrysler, Toyota, BMW, and Honda initially accepted the blame and prepared for recalls of automobiles from customers. However, once the investigations were complete, the defective airbags were traced to the company Takata (Foldy, 2019).

The recall for the airbags is phenomenal in that thousands of cars from all types of makers have sent out recalls for the airbags, causing the leaders of Takata to file bankruptcy (Crouch et al., 2021). The issue is that the manufacturers receiving the airbags are not immediately identifying the defect before shipping the automobile (Foldy, 2019). In order to decrease cost, enhance customer safety and customer satisfaction, the outsourced supplier should identify product defects prior to fulfilling customer orders.

Problem and Purpose

The specific business problem was that leaders of organizations fabricating parts lack strategies for identifying defects in products before fulfilling customers' orders to the manufacturing industry (Pietenpol, 2019). The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies leaders of organizations fabricating parts use for identifying defects in products before fulfilling customers' orders from within the manufacturing industry. The targeted population included 10 successful leaders from different areas in manufacturing who provided products to manufacturing companies in the Southeast region of Virginia.

Population and Sampling

In this multiple case study, I used manufacturing companies whose leaders used strategies to fabricate parts and identify defects in products before fulfilling customers'

orders to the manufacturing industry. To gain access to the participants, I used the social media platforms Linked In, Instagram, and Facebook to solicit individuals from local organizations who met the eligibility criteria of the study. I interviewed 10 participants. When the research process is specific, and the collection of data is decisive with no new information but redundancy, there is a possibility of data saturation (Alam, 2021).

For this study, purposeful or purposive sampling was chosen. Purposeful sampling is when the researcher relies on their own judgment when selecting participants for participation in studies (Achmad et al., 2022). I chose this type of sampling to ensure I had participants who met the criteria for participation. In this study, the strategic experience of the participants to identify defects before fulfilling customers' orders was the main criteria for selection. After I confirmed the participant met my eligibility criteria, I performed Zoom interviews. Lutfun (2021) stated that when performing qualitative research, the researcher should have a skill of building a rapport and trust with each participant in the research. It is important to have rapport and trust especially if the topic is sensitive or if the research involves participants from a disadvantaged, oppressed, or stigmatized population.

Nature of the Study

The research methods considered for this study included mixed methods, quantitative, and qualitative (see Yin, 2018). Concurrently conducting both the qualitative and quantitative methods is mixed methods research. Mixed methods include analyzing the components independently but interpreting the results together using a convergent parallel design (Miranda et al., 2020). Given the in-depth and detailed

requirements of using both research methods for adequate analysis, the mixed method was not used in this study. The research method for this study was qualitative.

Researchers using the qualitative method play an important role in collecting data, presentation, and interpretation while exploring their participant's activities and processes in their complexities (Yoon & Uliassi, 2022).

The ability to connect with the individuals who participated in this study while exploring strategies to identify and improve quality of outsourced products made the qualitative methodology best for this study. The quantitative research method aligns more with researchers who identify the cause and effects of techniques, strategies, and assumptions within relationships (Yin, 2018). However, identifying the cause and effect of strategies, techniques, and assumptions was not the goal of this study.

The research designs I considered for my study for the qualitative methodology were ethnography, narrative design, phenomenology, and case study (see Yin, 2018). Researchers use an ethnographic design to study interactions, beliefs, language, and behavior between many people in a culture or group (Tomaszewski et al., 2020). Ethnography was not appropriate for this study because there is no intent to get involved in the lives of group members. The emphasis of narrative research design is focusing on the experiences of participants through the process of storytelling. The story usually has an experience or event that has caused changes in the person or situation (Tomaszewski et al., 2020). With narrative design, participants share their individual views while the researcher interprets their stories (Smith, 2018), which was not suitable for this study.

Researchers use phenomenology to review the lived experiences of group members in a key event (Yuksel & Yildirim, 2015). Because lived experiences of group participants were not a part of this study, using phenomenology was not suitable for this study. Instead, a multiple case study design was used for this research. Case study exploration assists the researcher in gaining insight into real life conditions that contains methods of exploring and assessing multilayered issues in a natural setting. The case study allows the researcher to concentrate on the how or why of the study (Verleye, 2019). The case study was the appropriate design for my study because it focused on a bounded case to explore processes within a single area. A multiple case study was chosen over a single case study to closely explore the selected data within multiple organizations instead of a single organization to develop a more in-depth understanding of the phenomena than a single case could provide.

Research Question

What strategies do leaders of organizations fabricating parts use to identify defects in products before fulfilling customers' orders in the manufacturing industry?

Interview Questions

- 1. As a business leader, describe your relationship with outsourced entities.
- 2. What strategies do you use to minimize product defects?
- 3. What strategies do you use to oversee organizations providing products/services to your organization?
- 4. How often are your quality practices and procedures reviewed/audited?
- 5. What risk management practices do you use to prevent defects in products?

- 6. What processes and/or procedures do you use to elicit feedback from customers regarding defects in products?
- 7. What strategies do you use to address product defects?
- 8. What strategies do you use to ensure proper relationships with customers for addressing defects?
- 9. What are your organization's lessons learned strategy on defective products?
- 10. What else would you like to tell me about strategies you use to identify defects in products before fulfilling customers' orders?

Conceptual Framework

The stewardship theory that applied to this study was first introduced by Donaldson and Davis (1991) as a counterbalance to the agency theory presented by Jensen and Meckling (1976). When applying the stewardship theory, the agent concerns themselves with the goals and interest of their principals with little interest for their own as an agent (Aßländer et al., 2016). The constructs of the stewardship theory are (a) autonomy, (b) motivation, (c) identification, (d) authority, (e) stakeholder orientation, and (f) collaboration (Aßländer et al., 2016). The concepts apply to the problem statement and data analysis in a combination that enhances intrinsic motivation. Intrinsic motivation is performing activities for satisfaction instead of a reward (Kachoui, 2018). These concepts were applicable to my problem statement because leaders of organizations fabricating parts need to be motivated, collaborative, autonomous, and intrinsically motivated to address defects proactively. Stewardship theory was appropriate for this study because the leader is concerned about the organization and not themselves. I evaluated the

constructs of stewardship theory in the data analysis and the findings because concepts such as intrinsic motivation, collaboration, and autonomy were discovered through analysis.

Operational Definitions

Bottlenecking: Bottlenecking is signified by a restriction of production of a machine triggered by one or more volume constraints that imply maximum production (Ribeiro et al., 2021).

Corporate governance: Corporate governance structure assists how the board of directors navigates the management of the company. The broader objective is to ensure transparency for shareholders and stakeholders while ensuring their best interest.

(Kareem Alzubaidi, 2021).

Extrinsic: Extrinsic motivation is driven by external rewards and consequences (Kachoui, 2018).

Intrinsic: Intrinsic motivation is driven by internal satisfaction rather than consequence (Kachoui, 2018).

Offshoring: Offshoring uses external suppliers abroad to supply goods and services that the company's own employees previously provided (Kossonou & McMurtrey, 2021)

Product harm crisis: Product harm crisis is a well-publicized, unplanned event where an organization's products are found to be dangerous or defective (Raithel et al., 2021).

Supply chain: Supply chain is the management and flow of resources within the businesses processes from attaining raw materials to distribution of the product to the end user to maintain profitable business operations (Macide Berna Çağlar & Kenan, 2020).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

When conducting scholarly research, researchers face various critical restrictions. These restrictions, which include source availability, may create limitations within the study and the researchers' process as expressed in the assumptions (Simon, 2011). The researcher serves as the tool for evaluation in a qualitative study. The perception of the researcher may potentially influence interpretation, the collection of data, and presentation (Chan et al., 2013).

Assumptions

Assumptions are beliefs or common understandings not verified yet considered true (Simon & Goes, 2013). I assumed that the participants would provide insightful and honest answers during interviews. A second assumption was that the participants would have the required level of experience in identifying defects prior to filling orders.

Limitations

Limitations are unidentified circumstances that transpire, which can weaken the study (Yin, 2018). Within this qualitative study, the limitations included participants who may have lacked the experience in identifying defective products. Training is essential in any facet of employment. The lack of training added with new or short time employment may produce a hindrance.

Another limitation for this study was that the space provided may not have been conducive for the interviews. If the participant and researcher are placed in a room with no privacy or the room is not secured, the participant may feel uneasy in answering the interview questions truthfully. If the participant felt uneasy or felt they could receive backlash from their organization, they could decide to withdraw from the interview at any time. An additional limitation to the study was the time allotted for each interview, along with the times of day the interview may be given. Depending on the time allotted for the interview, the participant may decide to shorten their answers, which may leave out valuable data. If substantial time is given, the participant may feel the need to add information as a filler to their statements. The time of day a participant is interviewed may influence the data obtained (Hovell et al., 2020). Some participants may prefer morning interviews, while other participants may prefer an afternoon interview. The final limitation included statements that were made during the interview that were unclear or incomplete. Incomplete or unclear statements can skew data or, worse yet, cause data to be thrown out.

Delimitations

Delimitations are choices made by an investigator regarding the boundaries for a study (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). This study did not include employees with less than 5 years of work experience in a manufacturing facility located in the southeast region of Virginia. This study only included leaders from manufacturing organizations who manage employees who fabricate parts for delivery to other organizations. This study

excluded any employees who worked in other areas of manufacturing like payroll or food service.

Significance of the Study

The social implications of this study informed business leaders on organizations working together to achieve win-win opportunities while improving their internal processes. The training and review of processes and procedures with employees improved product defects before fulfilling orders, which lowered product risk. The results from the study informed business leaders on how to minimize defects in products before fulfilling orders, which resulted in reduced risk, lower cost, and higher quality products. The primary reason business leaders use outsourcing is to stay competitive, decrease costs, and access new markets, while transferring production to outside companies (Zamfir et al., 2017). Because business leaders are concerned with meeting schedules, and curtailing costs, it is imperative for suppliers with expertise to manage products and materials that are outsourced from parent organizations (Khan et al., 2019).

Contribution to Business Practice

In this study, I uncovered strategies and processes that may assist in increasing the quality of manufactured products. The strategies of minimizing defects from outsourced organizations can contribute to benefiting the consumer, increase profit margins, and add profits in the local communities. The research findings within the study can assist business leaders in improving production strategies that contribute to addressing defective products from outsourced organizations, which could enhance consumer safety.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for social change in this study include a reduction of defective automotive parts from outsourced organizations and improvement in the quality of sourced auto parts installed in manufactured products. One of the main objectives of this study was to engender positive social change by concentrating on the issue of product defects. Product defects concerns have significant social implications and risks. Risks include accepting noncompliant material from organizations with substandard quality processes. Another risk is avoiding counterfeit parts from entering inspections areas, which may prevent sabotage of major components. Lastly, a risk is the threat of terrorism by installing poorly made parts, which could fail and cause detrimental damage.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The literature review begins with the purpose of the study, which was to explore strategies leaders may use to identify defects in products before fulfilling customers' orders in the manufacturing industry. Along with the purpose of the study, I include an analysis of scholarly peer-reviewed articles that provide a definition and explanation of the theory used in this study. I open with an analysis and detailed summary of stewardship theory, which was the conceptual framework for my study. In this portion, I also discuss the constructs of stewardship theory and how the theory has worked in some organizations. Next, I discuss similar and contrasting theories related to stewardship theory and reasons why these theories would not have worked with this study. The next section includes an examination of the strategies addressing product defects and risks from outsourced organizations. After risk, suppliers and their subtiers are explored to

understand the importance of the relationship. Lastly, during the time this study was worked on, a pandemic occurred, referred to as COVID-19. I also discuss the effects of the pandemic to manufacturing and the workplace.

A total of 95% of my sources were peer-reviewed (see Table 1). A total of 72% of the literature within this study was within 5 years of my expected graduation date of 2023.

Table 1

Literature Review Summary

Peer-reviewed	Published before 2019	Published between 2019 and 2023	Total
(184) 95%	(54) 28%	(140) 72%	194

The online databases used were ABI/INFORMS Global, ProQuest, and Business Source Complete. Key words used for searching included stewardship theory, transaction cost theory, stakeholder theory, shareholder theory, resource dependency theory, corporate governance, autonomy, motivation, identification, authority, stakeholder orientation, and collaboration.

Stewardship Theory

I used stewardship theory as the conceptual framework for my study. Stewardship theory was first introduced by Donaldson and Davis (1991) as a counterbalance to the agency theory presented by Jensen and Meckling (1976). In this theory, the steward has a behavior displaying motivations that are individual and look for no economic basis (Schmidthuber & Hilgers, 2019). The steward also has a focus on self-management and

empowerment that parallel with the principal's values (Boon, 2018). This conceptual theory was applicable in the data analysis and findings section in several ways. First, my interview questions aligned with the framework. Second, I compared and contrasted the themes from the analysis with the available research on the conceptual framework. Third, my constructs within the conceptual theory aligned with the framework and were applicable with the data analysis.

Business leaders integrating stewardship theory may also use other leadership developments and concepts when collaborating with their employees and suppliers (Franco & Antunes, 2020). Suppliers using stewardship theory within their companies have become strategic partners with their peers, which creates a strategic alliance between the businesses (Fayezi et al., 2020). Collective goals instead of individual goals are the emphasis in stewardship theory (Obermann et al., 2020). The collaboration and strong working relationship between the leaders of an organization and the board, with the board administering advice, may provide agility, visibility, and adaptability to the supply chain, which emphasizes stewardship theory (Poberschnigg et al., 2020).

Stewardship theory is a key component of servant leadership, which empowers individuals to reach goals as an organization or team (Franco & Antunes, 2020). With the rapid change in global economics, leaders are expected to possess mental curiosity and be well rounded in business practices while possessing honesty and modesty when leading others (Franco & Antunes, 2020). Leaders using stewardship theory along with servant leader styles enable their employees to obtain opportunities for development that benefit

the organization. This type of leadership can assist employees in reaching their full potential while bringing out the best in them.

stewardship theory in that the concept can work as a mechanism explaining the actions of leaders and the roles in which they operate (Kgobe & Mamokhere, 2021).

Fundamentally, accountability is the trust factor between the leaders and their board members to battle unethical conduct because it is one of the most exceedingly adversaries of development (Kgobe & Mamokhere, 2021). Leaders using accountability while implementing good corporate governance must build trust in their employees and their counterparts, which prompts success and effectiveness (Kgobe & Mamokhere, 2021).

Improving accountability in the public domain is important to coincide with

In corporate governance, there is a form of agency theory scholars have described as having self-interested behavior. One of the concepts found in the agency theory, may be unrealistic and misleading (Obermann et al., 2020). Those working in a director or agent position may function as stewards at times, who are not concerned with their own financial gain but will act on behalf of their companies (Obermann et al., 2020). There has been an enormous amount of attention given to corporate governance over the past few years (Amartey et al., 2019).

The board plays an important role in corporate governance by participating in the accountability process. The process may at times have a negative connotation by some board members. These negative connotations take place when board members feel a rite of passage and do not have to adhere to rules and regulations. When the processes of the

board are not adhered to, the results may be organizations collapsing (Amartey et al., 2019).

If the leader is assigned to the board as a director, and the director has a board to answer to, the relationship between the leader and the board is important to keep the company moving. The knowledge the director may bring to the board is a large factor in the performance of the board (Elms & Nicholson, 2020). The director using the agency theory may not always act in the best interest of their company, but more so in the director's own interest (Elms & Nicholson, 2020). The leader using the stewardship theory has built trust and collaboration along with motivation to work for the best interest of their company (Franco & Antunes, 2020).

Jiraporn et al. (2020) stated that the main driver behind formulating the board committee is agency theory. In order to improve corporate governance and enhance accountability, the creation of subcommittees from the board allows directors from the board to delegate tasks to the subcommittees to show transparency of the board. The board is comprised of inside directors selected from executives of the organization, and the outside director's only connection with the organization is being on the board (Rouf & Hossan, 2020).

The directors of the board have an accountability to bring knowledge to enhance the performance of the board. According to Elms and Nicholson (2020), there are two categories of knowledge the director is responsible for. The first category is functional skills, which are skills unique to the director acquired before joining the board. The second category of knowledge is firm specific knowledge, which requires the director to

possess a robust understanding of the strategic plans, operations, and leader's performance within the firm. Elms and Nicholson also stated that there are differences in accountability: being held accountable and feeling accountable. One feeling accountable can be intrinsic.

Leaders who engage in stewardship behavior within their organizations prioritize on behalf of the company and demand a leverage of power in order to increase the organization's performance (Obermann et al., 2020). Prioritizing takes place when leaders identify themselves or have an identification with an organization and have a collective understanding of what is essential to the organization. Along with understanding, the leader also discerns the organization's identity as attractive, unique, trustworthy, and constant with their own self concepts (Ma et al., 2021).

Wei et al. (2021) found that those individuals using the stewardship theory are entrusted to fulfill duties and responsibilities for organizations or individuals through intrinsic motivation. As a worker or leader, the steward is expected to perform their duties in a careful manner, while suppressing their own interest and preserving the interest of the organization. Shah et al. (2021) argued that stewardship leaders are intrinsically motivated to perform job assignments for individuals or organizations to which they are entrusted. With the need for improved business practices, some leaders of organizations needed to institute voluntary mandatory disclosures and greater transparency within their organizations, with respect to certain areas such as structured contracts. These changes came from the loss of trust from consumers not knowing which organizations were honest or had the consumers' best interest (Dumay et al., 2018).

Combined with the stewardship theory are behaviors innate to leaders who apply the theory: (a) higher autonomy, (b) psychological ownership, and (c) identification with the organization (Singh & Amit, 2020). Using higher autonomy allows the leader or employee of an organization to have flexible access to initiate their own actions without restrictions (Ruoxuan et al., 2020). Psychological ownership involves employees who have developed feelings of possession and ownership in the workplace when they are not owners of the organization (Ljungkvist & Boers, 2020). Leaders and employees engaging in the behavior of identification with the organization incorporate significant components from the organizations while perceiving a oneness with the organization (Tipuric et al., 2021).

Business leaders using these behaviors along with the stewardship theory model and corporate social responsibility (CSR) may use these to guide their organizations. These tools benefit the general interest of others by being socially and environmentally responsible with no future irresponsible actions (Sahasranamam et al., 2020). Past researchers focusing on the business world and the leaders running organizations have found stewardship behaviors to be valuable to the organization, stakeholders, and employees (Singh & Amit, 2020). Leaders accepting accountability and responsibility along with commitment to the employees within an organization bring about emotional connections, respect, trust, and authenticity (Singh & Amit, 2020). Incorporating stewardship theory within an organization can promote social change by enlisting leaders in projects within the community. Projects such as feeding the needy and mentoring youth endorse socially responsible engaging leaders to work within the community,

inevitably causing the leaders to have a genuine concern for others (Domínguez-Escrig et al., 2019).

Constructs for Stewardship Theory

Aßländer et al. (2016) stated that the constructs for stewardship theory include (a) autonomy, (b) motivation, (c) identification, (d) authority, (e) stakeholder orientation, and (f) collaboration. Along with the constructs, there are concepts of stewardship theory that leaders may possess, such as a motivation to act in the very best interest of the organization, collectivistic behaviors, and proorganizational behaviors (Schillemans & Bjurstrøm, 2020). Some of the constructs mentioned may collaborate along with each other such as autonomy and motivation. Employees using autonomy with permission from their leaders may feel motivated and accountable for their behavior while achieving work improvements (Lobel Trong et al., 2021).

Autonomy

Autonomy is defined as the inclination of one's own interest (Hand, 2020). With respect to autonomy, organizations that are parent companies over family firms look to the family firms for their development and decision making. Within the development and decision making process, family firms use autonomy; freedom from external control or influence to the organization in order to govern itself with has a positive effect on their ownership (Harrison, 2019). Mergers and acquisitions taking place in family firms may decrease the power of proprietorship, autonomy, and cash flow and are less philanthropic (Harrison, 2019).

Autonomy connects to my problem statement by understanding how leaders may have different motivations on how the organization should run. Autonomy is important when outsourcing to another organization. When the parent organization decides to use outside sources for products or services, the outsourced organization must have autonomous leaders as to not be overrun by the parent company.

Motivation

Motivation is defined as the reasons or incentive structures that drive people to act (Bennett et al., 2018). The motivation construct used in stewardship theory undertakes the thought that leaders are motivated by the wellbeing of their employees (Till & Yount, 2018). Leaders along with employees are given responsibilities within their organizations, with an expectation of desired results. When those expectations are not met, the person's performance is reviewed (Osro et al., 2018). The motivation of leaders and employees whose services and/or products are outsourced to parent organizations has an expected result of timely delivery of great quality with a reasonable cost.

Renewing the motivation of leaders and employees can become a daunting task if mistrust and unreliability are within an organization. There are two types of motivation: intrinsic and extrinsic (Bennett et al., 2018). When the leader is motivated by egocentricity and responds to reward or is reprimand, extrinsic motivation is present. Intrinsic motivation refers to the leader or employee who believes their task is meaningful, and their self-worth is valued because their skill set and knowledge are used to complete the task at hand (Torfing & Bentzen, 2020). A leader or employee possessing the characteristics of intrinsic motivation also encompasses the stewardship theory

towards their organization (Schmidthuber & Hilgers, 2019). The intrinsic motivation character aligns with finding strategies for identifying defects in that the individual has self-motivation, will collaborate, and possesses internal satisfaction to finding a solution.

Reviewing outsourcing in connection with stewardship theory is appropriate because of the decision-making process in business relationships and collaborations with suppliers. Stewardship theory may provide an important advantage when organizational and cultural factors are influential for employee motivation. It is important for leaders to understand whether their employee's motivation is intrinsic or extrinsic (Torfing & Bentzen, 2020). Understanding the difference between the motivations relates to the problem statement and interview questions by recognizing how the participants may react to identifying defects.

Identification

Identification refers to the leader's confidence and certainty that an organization's vision and mission statements along with their purposes align with those of the leader (Li et al., 2019). When a leader identifies with and agrees with their organization's goals and ideology, the leader is more apt to complete their goals and tasks by going the extra mile and finishing either by the deadline or earlier (Li et al., 2019). These leaders also understand that assisting their organization in completing objectives is important not only for themselves but for long term milestones of the organization (Li et al., 2019). Organizations may give incentives to leaders for completing objectives to develop interest and enthusiasm within the department along with stimulating their mindsets (Kapur, 2022).

Stakeholder Orientation

Stakeholder orientation represents how a company attends to the interest of all relevant stakeholders as well as all other parties involved with the success or failure of the organization (Paharia, 2019). The stakeholder orientation is derived from stakeholder theory (Soundararajan et al., 2019), which builds on the culture and behavior of the organization and encourages members to continuously be aware of stakeholders' issues and concerns (Vaitoonkiat & Charoensukmongkol, 2020). In some organizations, the stakeholders believe the organization they are affiliated with should be managed solely for the stakeholder's benefit, regardless of financial gain (Rahman et al., 2019). The organization's day to day business can affect the stakeholder, which is a constant concern (Waheed & Qaisar, 2019). The increased presence of stakeholders in an organization's internal governance promotes equality. Stakeholder theory is appropriate for managers who are concerned with all aspects of business within the organization but does not include a framework for managers concentrating on an immediate project.

Collaboration

Collaboration encompasses a steward to not only care, but share. A leader who possesses steward characteristics, understands the action of working with someone to produce or create something is essential (Cockburn et al., 2019). Within the supply chain organization, especially in outsourcing, all parties must come together to collaborate on information and form a bond of trust (de Goede et al., 2018). Between the two parties, the buyer and supplier must form a bond where a transparency relationship exists to complete the required task or goal that is expected on both sides. Without these important factors in

the relationship between the two parties, the relationship can prove detrimental to both parties. Disruptions of any type within the relationship of the two organizations should be at a minimum with the goal to reach each milestone with open communication (de Goede et al., 2018). Collaboration applies to the problem statement and the other sections because teams that collaborate are better able to identify defects (Kachoui, 2018).

Supporting and Contrasting Theories

In this section, I discuss the supporting and contrasting theories related to the conceptual framework of stewardship theory. There are several theories within corporate governance that concentrate on the encounters of governance daily. Because I am examining stewardship in this study, a supporting theory is the transaction cost economics (TCE) theory, while a contrasting theory is agency theory.

Transaction Cost Economics

TCE was developed by the late Nobel Laureate Oliver Williamson in 1979 (Francois, 2021). The theory includes elements that assisted leaders in organizations to evaluate internal operations to enhance performance within the organization. Leaders optimize transaction cost by working with outside organizations to minimize cost while exchanging transactions between the organizations (De Carvalho, 2019). There are instances where an organization must decide whether to outsource a product or service. In order to decide whether or not to outsource, the organization needs to understand the cost, time and effort of going through with purchasing from an external source or incurring the cost from in-house; which explains transaction cost (Vyas et al., 2018). Outsourcing products and services are beneficial to all parties when the products or services are too

intricate and the resources to obtain these products and services are bare to minimal for the parent organization (Vyas et al., 2018). The TCE theory is appropriate for managers with opportunistic and self-interest goals and was not an appropriate choice for my conceptual framework.

Agency Theory

The agency theory was originated in 1976 by Jensen and Meckling to analyze the principal-agent issues in business settings (Jean Robert et al., 2020). The business setting for some organizations consists of an agency relationship where the actions and motivations of the agents may not align with the principals or stakeholders of the organization (Marashdeh et al., 2021). There is a potential conflict by the agent, even with a relationship contract between the principal and the agent to make the best decisions and perform with the interest of the stakeholders in mind (Marashdeh et al., 2021). Leaders under the agency theory are revered as possessing extrinsic goals, with a self-interest attitude (Bentzen, 2021). The agency theory which was originated by Jensen and Meckling as an economic model, is used by theorists to explain the behaviors of some leaders. The leaders meeting these characteristics can be considered as opportunistic and have a preference of self-interest over the interest of the organization (Zulfiqar et al., 2021).

Agency theory exists whenever a principal hires an agent to perform a service, and delegates decision-making authority to the agent (Gaia & Jones, 2020). A challenge with the principal agent relationship is that the principal and the agent do not share the

same goal (Gaia & Jones, 2020). The manager and agent's interests may not align with what is best for the organization (Jensen & Meckling, 1976).

In the same manner, the manager and agent should align goals to help improve organizational competitiveness. Managers are concerned with not just their decisions when outsourcing but are aware of the agent's agenda (Gunasekaran et al., 2015). The agency theory was not appropriate for this conceptual framework because the manager is more concerned with the cost for themselves than the outcome of the project.

Strategies for Addressing Product Defects and Risks

In this section, I provided an examination of the product defects and risks from outsourced organizations. Also included is an overview of the importance of organizations having quality products, reputation, and outsourcing. The importance of having a good global supply chain network through the process is crucial to any leader attempting success with the organization and having to outsource to stay competitive in their respective market.

Importance of Quality Products

Leaders working in the manufacturing industry must be conscious of outsourcing and the associated risk of their company's reputation of quality when products are received from other organizations (Jasinska & Jasinski, 2018). When products received from outside the company are installed into a system, those products are expected to work properly. When the products do not function properly or injure the consumer, leaders should then initiate a product recall. Leaders that wait to recall a defective

product have to deal with not only safety factors from consumers or liability claims but also loss of reputation (Patro et al., 2021).

Reputation

Having a good reputation with the consumer can increase a company's capital and sales growth while promoting potential clients and buyers to move into contracts and negotiations. However, when consumers, who have been through situations of product defects can be less than understanding due to suspiciousness of the organization from past product defects recalls (Enis & Bayraktaroglu, 2021). When a leader has made the decision to file for bankruptcy or recall a product, the leader must think about the financial impact of the organization. Defective product recalls have significant penalties to organizations such as pulling products from consumer availability and consumer blame response of the organization (Enis & Bayraktaroglu, 2021).

Recalls for many leaders can lead to financial ruin, especially if the consumer has lost all confidence in the manufacturer. Once the consumer hears a recall is announced, they may participate in the recall, and evaluate whether they will purchase the product in the future. There are two ways a recall occurs; voluntary or reactive. The voluntary recall occurs when the automaker initiates a recall without involving the national highway traffic safety administration (NHTSA), while the reactive recall happens when NHTSA directs the automaker to initiate a recall (Patro et al., 2021).

Outsourcing

Before outsourcing began, the needed parts were taken off the truck, and the production or manufacturing team was made responsible. With the changing times,

outsourcing is seen as the way to cut costs if the products are too expensive to make inhouse due to training, expertise, or cost of materials. A parent company may use outsourcing to become more competitive in their respective market by outsourcing work that another facility or organization can produce at a cheaper rate because their leaders have hired the experts for the required task (Shaiq & Hassan, 2019). Historically, supply chain agility has been brought into the forefront of business in order to remain competitive in their respective markets (Irfan et al., 2020).

Supply chain agility is defined as the organization's ability to quickly respond and adjust to changing strategies by manipulating internal and external proficiencies to satisfy customer expectations (Irfan et al., 2020). Outsourcing originated from the term "outside resourcing" which explains how organizations utilize the resources outside the organization's scope (Gossler et al., 2020). Pharmaceutical and biotechnology outsourced services are forecasted to reach 91.4 billion by 2028 (Thomas, 2021). Outsourcing is now so widely used; it has become global. Some organizations have chosen to outsource a part or all their business to facilities overseas to lower cost and to concentrate on their core business activities. Leaders are consistently considering new business opportunities and strategies to generate value (Shaiq & Hassan, 2019). Leaders who have access to valuable insights for changing the global market have the opportunity to strengthen relationships while improving their performance (Gawankar et al., 2020).

Offshore outsourcing is not only an important, but an effective part of business operations, especially in the international sector. The global offshoring market has grown in the last 30 years (Matilde et al., 2021). There is a debate however on the benefits and

adverse effects of offer shoring especially with jobs (Kossonou & McMurtrey, 2021). The benefits of offshoring include working remotely, online commerce growth, increased rebuilding of networks and local services and innovative workplace management. The drawbacks of offshoring include loss of jobs (especially in the United States), lowered the wages of low skilled workers in the United States, negative effect on foreign jobs in foreign countries (Kossonou & McMurtrey, 2021).

Leaders in the organization desire their projects to have an effective and positive completion. As the products work through the processes of outsourcing, there are items to consider such as schedule, cost, and quality. In some cases, a leader from an organization may complete the entire project in-house, while other leaders inquire from outside services or facilities the capabilities and expertise of that firm to ensure the best quality product or service. Leaders also use developed and underdeveloped countries to supply their needs through outsourcing. The advantages of outsourcing outweigh the disadvantages causing leaders to create a collaborative relationship with the sourced facility (Shaiq & Hassan, 2019).

Outsourcing is a crucial tool for an organization to focus on its core business operations (Prajapati et al., 2020). There are two types of outsourcing: private sector and public sector. Outsourcing is used in the private sector during the purchasing process by leaders buying from the market instead of manufacturing in house (Hakansson & Axelsson, 2020). Another direction used by a leader is to form an alliance or relationship with their suppliers and eventually take over the unit of product. Leaders using

outsourcing through the public sector use suppliers from the market, however there is competition to get the most efficient solution (Hakansson & Axelsson, 2020).

To determine if an organization needs to outsource, leaders need to research internally as well as externally to decide if the cost benefits the end outcome. Once management has decided to outsource, leaders then should ensure the outside organization has the same requirements for quality as well as moral requirements of integrity. The process for outside organizations to receive the same requirements as the parent organization is to provide a contract to the outside organization with the standards listed (Sánchez-Jerónimo et al., 2022). Many organizations are outsourcing part or all their businesses to cut cost, remain competitive within their markets and to concentrate on their core business competencies. In an effort to continue remaining competitive, some businesses that collaborate with other organizations to provide products and services is a common place in industries such as manufacturing and retail (Rosin et al., 2019).

These organizations may provide information technology services, banking services, cell phone services or automobile manufacturing (Graham et al., 2019). Once the leaders of the organization have decided to outsource their business, it is important for the parent organization to ensure the outsourced organization is the right fit for business. If the outsourced organization is not the right fit, risk such as product defects, injury of death could happen to the consumer which hampers the entire supply chain stream (Agrawal & Singh, 2021).

In the future, the auto industry will look different than it does now. With technology constantly changing, automobiles will have an abundance of computer capabilities in that communication technologies and information will be incorporated into urban infrastructure (Graham et al., 2019; Kaufmann & Tzanetakis, 2020). With new upgraded technologies and designs, leaders of auto industry and manufacturing should remain in a strong relationship as well as an aligned partnership with their sourced facilities. Where most European automotive businesses as well as two American automotive companies, outsource completely assembled cars to independent vehicle suppliers.

Within the global supply chain, logistics outsourcing has been improving within the core activities in the manufacturing industry. The high demands in the supply chain have caused organizations to examine cost effective products and services in order to satisfy customer needs and expectations (Budler et al., 2021). When choosing outsourcing partners or an outsourcing facility, the leaders might want to think about the advantage of using facilities for their efficient productivity instead of the cost of the contract. Most manufacturing organizations use external contract manufacturing in order to stay competitive within the industry. The organizations using contract manufacturing as an option would not be viable without the benefit of collaboration of the organization's partnerships (Ganesan et al., 2022, 05).

Leaders using outsourcing expect timely responsiveness and cost savings while strategizing competitiveness and sustainability within the organization (Agrawal & Singh, 2021). When leaders of organizations use outsourcing, employees are able to concentrate on the core competencies, while expecting outsourced entities to use their employee expertise on a quality product or service (Agrawal & Singh, 2021).

Organizations run the risk of loss and product recall when using outside entities to perform their manufacturing, however leaders will take the risk for cost savings and lack of expertise among their own resources (Agrawal & Singh, 2021). Reasons for getting out of most outsourcing contracts has to do with suppliers not keeping up with relevant knowledge, using obsolete products or inefficient processes (Hakansson & Axelsson, 2020).

Independent surveys conducted by market watch dogs have shown unscrupulous acts committed by outsourcing offshoring contractors such as sending defective product components or incompetent to carry out desired work (Juvekar & Parekh, 2021). The concerns about outsourced products are high cost for transportation, foreign locations with a lack of transparency within the supply chain, and poor quality of the products (Dachs et al., 2019). Quality control problems are associated with the outsourcing facilities unproductive management skills set along with leadership and the ineffectiveness of managing several issues that affect quality issues in the manufacturing process. Despite the overwhelming advantage of outsourcing, and the incredible history behind the process, cost savings may prove to be an obstacle. A heightened attentiveness by leadership to risk and vulnerabilities through globalization of products moving through the supply chain, starting with sourcing and going through the process to manufacturing and finally the end customer (Vijaykar et al., 2021).

The complexity of the global supply network and many countries emerging as outsourcers need a fine balance between the market obligations based on needs of the customer, capabilities, processes along with safety risks as they manage products moving

through the chain (Vijaykar et al., 2021). For the first time since 2019, Amazon initiated a product recall. U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission (CPSC) standards were used by the e-commerce giant to recall 15,300 memory foam mattresses posing a fire hazard to consumers. The voluntary recall included memory foam mattresses sold between April 2020 and March 2021 valued between \$150 and \$450, sizes including 10-inch and 12 inch for twin, full, queen, king and California king beds. When Amazon executives hear of a recall, all product offers are cancelled, holds all stock in the warehouse and while notifying buyers and sellers (Taylor, 2021). Quality risk problems are often hidden in manufacturing processes, supply network or raw materials and intensified by little to no visibility of quality defects.

Once the sourced organization has received the paperwork to fill the orders of their customers, they must review the requirements of the paperwork. One small mistake with the paperwork, or an increase in orders may set a sourced facility up for failure. Parent organizations choosing their outsourced supplier may want to safeguard against quality issues by having criteria requirements to hold the supplier to the parent organization's requirements and standards. Sourced services and facilities must be held accountable to the parent organizations requirements, but more so they must be held accountable to the standards of the end-customer (Ulewicz, 2018). When sourced facilities are held accountable to schedule delays, defective parts and wrong materials, parent organizations will have the right to reprimand the facility by refusing to use them in future orders.

When materials or products leave the sourced facility and shipped to the parent organization, there is a chance the shipment may be wrong (Jones, 2018). When the shipment is first checked, the inspector will examine the product to confirm it is the correct product as well as checking the quality of the product. If the product is not right, then the schedule is delayed, and the outsourced facility will be contacted with in the issue and a required explanation. If the product has a quality issue, the sourced facility is still contacted and required to provide an explanation as to what happened (Forcinio, 2018).

Repercussions of Defective Products and Materials

With the intricacy of the global supply chain network, all leaders of organizations involved within the layers of collaborating with partners need to understand product recalls not only impact the initial manufacturer, but the entire supply chain stream (Schniederjans & Khalajhedayati, 2021). Leaders who do not require transparency within their supply chain may encounter issues with their products and materials. Product recalls can cause consumers to rethink their trust in an organization, along with damaging the brand, the reputation and quality control of the product (Schniederjans & Khalajhedayati, 2021).

Defective Products

Key performance indicators (KPI) are used to monitor performance in the manufacturing industry (Hedvičáková & Kráľ, 2021). Although manufacturing industries have implemented new digitization processes along with information technologies, human performance is still the most important element responsible for factory

productivity and product quality (Hedvičáková & Kráľ, 2021). With the new technologies in place, some sectors of the manufacturing industry are having difficulty with the limited skillset of the workforce (Negara & Hidayat, 2021). There is a struggle to hire qualified, productive workers in some manufacturing areas such as technology, which requires leaders to work with low skilled workers that may produce products with defects (Negara & Hidayat, 2021).

Defective products or materials may go through an entire manufacturing process and end up in an assembly. Sometimes the product is not discovered defective until it is placed in an assembly and malfunctioning. The product can cause injury or death to the end customer. If the defective product or material moves through the processes and ends up with the end customer, with causes injury or death, the leaders of the organization, especially the auto industry, will make the decision to have a product recall. A product recall has the capacity of removing products from the market after the consumer has purchased the products. Automobile recalls have a negative impact on the health and safety of the consumer. The credibility and accountability of the manufacturing firm is reduced when defective products are recalled (Schniederjans & Khalajhedayati, 2021).

A product recall or product harm crisis is defined as a product that goes against safety regulations while possessing a defect that could cause serious hurt, harm, or danger (Muralidharan et al., 2019). After the product recall reaches the consumer, the organization that put in the order to return the product, must deal with the backlash of the recall. Leaders within the auto industry must use management strategies to certify proper advertising; the recall is initiated while making sure the customer/consumer is assisted

(Muralidharan et al., 2019). The initiated product recall can damage an organization's reputation, cause a lack of support from consumers, or poor product sales.

Consumers amend customers who faced injury and death due to a product that was recalled have had problems taking the manufacturer to court for liability of a product failure that caused hurt, harm, or danger (O'Sullivan & Tokeley, 2018). In some cases, such as the Takata air bags product recall, the company was financially liable for nearly \$50 billion worth of lawsuits and recalls of their air bags that were improperly made (Burke et al., 2020). Takata stated that their company did not manufacture the air bags, another facility did, and Takata, a family owned business declared bankruptcy in the United States and Japan, creating a trail of devastation and damage for many associated with the air bags (National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, 2016).

Leaders working in organizations such as IT depend on outsourcing organizations to provide quality products for their clients (Dutta & Omolayole, 2021). Leaders of organizations relying on outsourced entities to provide their products and services are experiencing a high number of failure rates with the quality of products due to the difficulty of monitoring these entities (Wang et al., 2021). The reliability of the supply chain is important to leaders as the entire chain is responsible for the final product dependability (Wang et al., 2021). An organization's profit and brand will decline if the organization has significant product recalls. In order for leaders to reduce products that are defective and harm consumers, organizations should have requirements to audit and inspect their quality control before products leave the organization (Burke et al., 2020). When the organization has an inefficient inspection or quality system, the results

influence the organization's bottom line. In some organizations the quality of the product is more important than price. The quality of the product may refer to customer requirements, appearance, reliability and safety to name a few (Burke et al., 2020).

Manufacturing a quality product assists the organization in adapting to market changes as well as customer trust.

Product Safety

The influence of globalization and expanding demand for consumer goods creates new hazards (Niven et al., 2022). An example of these hazards is the manufacturing of children's toys. The demand may be extremely high for certain toys; however, the hazards may be contamination with poisons and chemicals along with faulty designs (Niven et al., 2022). Consumers from China are concerned about safety problems especially food due to occurrences from the past in China. Recurrent outbreaks of food incidents have caused customers in China to have low confidence in the domestic food (Maitiniyazi & Canavari, 2021). The government in China has implemented several measures to improve quality and safety of the food.

Leaders, during their manufacturing and outsourcing processes, will sometimes not disclose the quality of the products or the origin of the product when obtained from the global supply chain. In China, around 2008, a substance suddenly started appearing in the milk supply of Chinese milk suppliers. This same substance is also a chemical called Formica which is used in plastic, paint, and paper as a fire retardant. When a thorough investigation was concluded, the discovered results implied that local farmers were adding melamine to their raw milk to simulate a protein boost.

The protein boost would enhance the local farmers' chances of collaborating with the larger dairy producers in the industry (Zhao et al., 2020). Because the milk went through the dairy process, consumers were affected. Six babies from China succumbed to the melanin tainted milk. Those babies that did not die from the tainted milk developed kidney stones (Zhao et al., 2020). Certain foods are essential to a healthy diet such as milk. Dairy products are now beginning to emerge in China (Maitiniyazi & Canavari, 2021).

Transparency is needed within the supply chain and throughout an organization to ensure product safety. When transparency is not used, and the safety of the product is in question, this shows the problem leaders have to determine the responsible persons creating the defects found in their products. Because the global supply chain is extremely large, organizations have a need to understand all entities managing their products to govern defective materials (Zhao et al., 2020). The same melanin found in the large dairy producer, also made its way through an Asian factory that produces chocolates for Cadbury, affecting the chocolate and causing Cadbury to recall all candies produced from this factory due to possible contamination. The tainted milk with melanin went through the Asian supply chain causing Sanlu, another company within the Asian borders to file bankruptcy. The management came to the decision once growing medical claims from consumers reached an insurmountable level (Zhao et al., 2020).

Moon and Tonsor (2020) stated that foodborne illnesses can create societal and individual costs through hospitalizations, medical care and even death. The total annual cost of illnesses caused by 14 major foodborne diseases in the United States is estimated

to be in the range of \$4.4 billion to \$33.0 billion with a reported annual loss of 61,000 quality adjusted life years. Food safety recalls are done by leaders of manufacturers or distributors to protect the public from food products with a potential to cause help concerns or even death. Food recalls are classified into three classes as class I,II,and III with respect to the risk of contaminants. Foods that are recognized as health hazard situations are classified as class I. Class II recalls signify there is a remote chance of health adversities. Class III recalls signify that consuming food will not cause adverse health concerns (Moon & Tonsor, 2020).

Cost and Quality

Consumers in the United States have many options to purchase products and materials. at times, the consumer will go outside the United States because they feel the price of the product may be lower or the product is attainable quicker overseas than the United States (Gray & Handley, 2015). The consumer sometimes does not consider the quality risk involved in purchasing materials and products outside the United States. Gray and Handley explored whether drugs created through outsourcing overseas posed a greater quality risk than drugs created in the United States. A sample size of 30 drug manufacturing companies was chosen in the United States and in Puerto Rico. The sample size selected companies that were ran by the same regulated pharmaceutical administration which was based in the United States. The Puerto Rican plants were found to have higher quality risks rates than their equal plants in the United States, even though all the facilities were under the same administration. The reasoning behind the difference was found to include culture, value, and language (Gray & Handley, 2015).

Risk Management

Risk management is an important component of cost and quality. Leaders should consider the complexity of applying a concept such as a quality control program to an outsourcing organization located overseas. There are several benefits to operating in a global supply network, and there are risks which as well can expose leaders and their organizations to possible defects (Martin et al., 2011). During an interview with managers involved with about 15 diverse outsourcing businesses, the thought of handling global supply chain risk was discussed. The consensus of the interview was that most managers did not consider having a plan for risk management because organizations were overseas, it was thought the outsourced organization had their own and the standards were close to those of the parent organization. The managers had not considered how deep the global supply network went with their product (Martin et al., 2011).

To alleviate defect risk in the global sourcing chain, a need exists to implement policies by leaders that (a) ensure implementing risk management is rooted throughout the supply chain and (b) provide an avenue for the supply chain to respond to erratic change with a quickness (Martin et al., 2011). The suppliers to the global supply chain network are extremely important as well as critical in the accomplishment of outsourcing. Suppliers have ways of managing their proficiencies through the global supply chain however, these capabilities are not known to all included in the process (Perunovic et al., 2012). In a multiple case study, three electronic manufacturers who were contracted discovered suppliers using the right combination of proficiencies were able to achieve their outsourcing obligations successfully (Perunovic et al., 2012). Having a clear

understanding of the customer's needs within the supply chain along with competency of technology and relationship management were proficiencies found to ensure global outsourcing success.

Risks occur when products or merchandise are found defective and harmful to consumers. Defective products or merchandise is also defined as a product harm crisis (Schniederjans & Khalajhedayati, 2021). If the defect is severe enough, the agent overseeing the outsourced contractor may decide to survey or audit the outsourced contractor. The outsourced public contractor is not required to audit themselves to safeguard against damaged materials or products sold to their consumers (Burke et al., 2020).

If the parent organization decides to audit the outsourced organization, the results of some audits may foster ill relationships between contractor and agents due to mistrust, conflicts and pressures. To receive the required products and services, leaders need to understand the requirements within their organization to outsource work to the applicable business that aligns with manufacturing needs. These occurrences may affect the reputation of an organization negatively if the product is malfunctioning (Schniederjans & Khalajhedayati, 2021). For the automotive industry, reverse logistics practices are common within the automotive supply chain process (Agrawal & Singh, 2021).

Global business has also changed with the trends of integrated globalization and logistics (Asian et al., 2019). For many companies, such as manufacturers and retail giants, to save money and remain competitive, outsourcing has become the norm (Shaiq

& Hassan, 2019). To reduce production cost, organizations use outsourcing to reduce labor and raw material pricing (Juvekar & Parekh, 2021).

There are advantages and disadvantages for companies to use outsourcing as part of their supply chain process. Some of the advantages of organizations using outsourcing include the outsourced company possessing skills in a particular field or process. The expectation from the parent organization is the outsourced organization will deliver the required product or material on schedule and excellent quality (Aswini, 2018). Another advantage of outsourcing allows the parent organization to concentrate on job assignments and the core business plan (Agrawal & Singh, 2021). Operational cost and risk mitigations are also benefits or advantages to the parent organization. With operational cost, the parent organization could lower cost by not having to hire in-house personnel for a specialized job. The outsourced organization that has accepted the contract must also include risk mitigation(s) in their plans and schedules for the parent organization (Aswini, 2018). This relationship benefits the parent organization by the outsourced organization's understanding through proper analysis, the risk of delays in scheduling, planning and subsequent quality on long with on time delivery (Aswini, 2018).

The disadvantages of outsourcing include lack of customer focus, deliverables, divulging information, hidden cost, and bottlenecking (Ribeiro et al., 2021). The outsourced organization that has many companies to furnish materials and products may lack customer focus to some organizations. The lack of focus may cause job assignments to go undone or be delivered late. If the parent organization did not choose the right

company to outsource their product or material to, the outcome may not be as expected. There may be quality concerns, delays in delivery and defects (Shaiq & Hassan, 2019).

When outsourcing a service such as human resources or security, the parent organization runs the risk of confidential information being divulged to the outsourcing company. This information can lead to imitation of product or material of the parent organization's property (Aswini, 2018). Organizations that deal with international outsourcing are not only concerned with the normal contracts between them and the outsourced company. There are concerns with international contracts which incur cost that may cause the parent organization to rethink outsourcing and search inside their own organization for solutions (Aswini, 2018). Organizations that depend solely on outsourcing may lose control with their sourced organization and run into bottlenecking of production (Tauqeer & Bang, 2019).

For a leader to consider outsourcing, the leader of that organization needs to examine the benefits and consequences of outsourcing for their organization. Outsourcing may lower labor cost, as well as give an organization the ability to obtain products, materials, or services that organization may not have the capacity to fulfill (Tauquer & Bang, 2019). Smaller companies trying to have growth and stability within the marketplace have a need for outsourcing as well. For the company to grow, just like the larger organization, the smaller company needs to decide the process or activity that needs outsourcing to stay relevant and not become a statistic in the marketplace (Tauquer & Bang, 2019).

Instead of manufacturing their own parts, automobile makers rely on their supply chain or outsourcing to fulfill their needs. The supply chain for the automotive industry consists of products and services delivered by companies and organizations aligned to provide goods to the consumer (Sakuramoto et al., 2019). Toyota, an organization widely known for its processes in lean manufacturing outsourced 80% of their produced automobiles (Sakuramoto et al., 2019). Toyota used two outsourcing companies to complete the organization's manufacturing of their automobiles. Outsourcing agents have a responsibility to align with each other to deliver a quality product to the consumer (Chang & Phan, 2018).

Suppliers and Sub Tier Suppliers

Some organizations that decide to use outsourced suppliers or sub-tier suppliers may require the sub-tier supplier to provide social sustainability within their organization. Social sustainability emphasizes sub tier supplier's leaders to create and promote a space of wellbeing within the workplace for the employees (Venkatesh et al., 2020). This wellbeing may include educational training, safety, security or physical, medical and mental support. Venkatesh et al. (2020) also stated when sub-tiers do not offer or provide assistance or support with social issues for their employees, the unmanaged issues may cause disruption or reputational damage within the organization.

Certain parent or first tier suppliers may demand some sub-tier suppliers to create social sustainability processes within their organizations through coercive pressures. An example of these types of organizations would consist of the garment or clothing industry (Shobod et al., 2020). With past history of child labor law dismissals, some first tier

suppliers in the garment district have strict, astringent rules of social sustainability that require sub-tier suppliers to adhere to in order to perform services to the first tier supplier. Some social sustainability rules that may require strict enforcement within the garment or clothing manufacturing industry may include strict labor hours with special permission needed to work overtime for contractual completions (Shobod et al., 2020).

COVID-19

In December 2019, the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic was first identified in Wuhan, China which infected tens of thousands of people and spread to more than 150 countries, while claiming thousands of lives (Pietenpol, 2019). The virus caused enormous social and economic change globally (Free & Hecimovic, 2021). One major change globally was the impact on the supply chain. There were shortages from every aspect of the supply chain from port traffic to major supplier locations which caused empty shelves and extreme consumer demand of products such as toilet paper, paper towels and cleaning products (Pietenpol, 2019).

An important pillar of the global economy is the automobile industry (Yean, 2021). Vehicle and parts producers formulate the core of the industry which support a wide range of business segments, both upstream and downstream. Global changes in the industry have caused vehicle manufacturers and their suppliers to cope and respond to customer's changing needs (Gruszka, 2021). Due to COVID-19 pandemic, the shortage of supplies especially for automobiles has the industry struggling to continue the supply chain as some of the operations has stopped (Paul & Chowdhury, 2020).

The first few weeks of the initial spread of COVID-19, the supply chains from China were interrupted (Bylen, 2020). The borders across Europe then restricted movement of people, materials and resources in order to contain the virus, while attempting to maintain a limited supply chain (Bylen, 2020). The vulnerability of the global supply chain is highlighted due to COVID-19 which has leaders thinking about the future. Even though leaders are still trying to determine the effects of the supply chain disruption, the decline of production in China has created an insurmountable impact on consumers and producers as far as the United States (Free & Hecimovic, 2021).

Leaders, due to the uncertainty of the COVID-19 pandemic, were forced to send employees home to telework which brought production in organizations to a halt (Palumbo, 2020). There are mixed reviews on employees' home teleworking as beneficial to the organization or the employee. Palumbo (2020) stated for some employees working from home is beneficial in balancing work and private life, while for other employees working from home may bring contention of remote learning with work life and private life overlapping. Seva et al. (2021) stated that teleworking from home can be beneficial to the employee such as spending more time with family and saving money on transportation and lower stress, while the negative of working from home is unproductivity, work space and ergonomics of the work area.

When COVID-19 became a national pandemic in the United States on January 9, 2020, industries such as retail and hospitality were severely affected due to social distancing and travel restrictions. Some hotels were forced to close or functioned with minimal inventory and a reduced staff (Chan et al., 2021). Along with the retail and

hospitality industry, the manufacturing industry struggled to keep operations moving forward. The performance of the organization impacted economic performance, causing employees along with stakeholders to agonize over the unknown (Clampit et al., 2021). The compounded COVID-19 cases and social distance requirements caused manufacturers to decrease operations and scale back on production. These interventions had serious impacts and have brought immense pressures on the manufacturing organization's operations (Li, 2021).

Summary

From the literature review, stewardship theory is most appropriate for this study. Leaders using stewardship theory are self-motivated and have goals that align with upper management and stockholders (Schmidthuber & Hilgers, 2019). When using stewardship theory, constructs are associated such as motivation, identification, collaboration, autonomy. Aligning these constructs with business practices may ensure leaders who work with board members and stockholders along with outsourcing partners to reach goals and milestones (Cockburn et al., 2019). TCE theory is a supporting theory considered for this study; however, TCE theory is good for managers with opportunistic and self-interest goals and is not an appropriate choice for my conceptual framework. The agency theory is a contrasting theory to stewardship theory and was also considered however, this theory was not appropriate for this conceptual framework because the manager is more concerned with cost for themselves than the outcome of the project.

When stewardship theory is not used in business practices by the leaders, several factors that may take place that detours goals and milestones of the organization. Goals

such as good quality products, on time delivery, and reasonable cost become jeopardized for the consumer as well as the organization. Defective products may cause product recalls from the organization to consumers, which can lead to mistrust from the consumers. This mistrust may also lead to organizations losing business or eventually closing (Muralidharan et al., 2019). Along with defective products and product recalls, leaders who are not using stewardship practices and unfamiliar with supply chain operations may not concern themselves with risk management. This concept is beneficial because there is a need to implement policies by leaders that (a) ensure implementing risk management is rooted throughout the supply chain and (b) provide an avenue for the supply chain to respond to erratic change with a quickness (Martin et al., 2011).

Transition

Section I included the problem statement, purpose statement, nature of study, research questions, and the conceptual framework. The problem statement, along with the purpose statement, focused on the strategies leaders of organizations fabricating parts use for identifying defects in products before fulfilling customers' orders to the automotive industry. The literature review included the conceptual framework of stewardship theory with supporting and contrasting theories, along with comparing of outsourcing strategies.

In Section 2, the discussion includes the purpose statement, role of the researcher, participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection, data analysis, and reliability and validity. Section 3 includes the findings, recommendations for action, recommendations for future research reflections, and conclusion of the study.

Section 2: The Project

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies leaders of organizations fabricating parts use for identifying defects in products before fulfilling customers' orders within the manufacturing industry. The targeted population included 10 successful leaders from different areas in manufacturing who provided products to manufacturing companies in the Southeast region of Virginia.

Purpose Statement

Using a qualitative multiple case study, I explored the strategies used by leaders of organizations fabricating parts who use strategies for identifying defects in products before fulfilling customers' orders to the manufacturing industry. As the researcher, I took on the role of interviewing the participants with open-ended questions. The use of open-ended questions allows participants to freely express themselves without interference from outside sources (Naidu & Prose, 2018). The role of the researcher, within qualitative research, is to collect and analyze data that may reflect experiences, opinions, and feelings with minimal bias (Clark & Vealé, 2018).

Role of the Researcher

Researchers remaining objective and unbiased in their research may find difficulty in staying the same if certain precautions are not in place. Remaining objective and unbiased ensures credibility throughout the study, especially when the outcome fairs differently (Karagiozis, 2018). Bracketing requires personal expectations of the researcher regarding the outcome of the research to nonexist (Clark & Bower, 2016). I remained objective and unbiased during my research through multiple methods, including

using interview questions that aligned with my study, using member checking, and using an interview protocol. Member checking focuses on the interpretation of the participant's response (Birt et al., 2016). During the validation process, the participant was given the opportunity to go over and correct my interpretation of their statements or comments.

During the member checking process for this study, I used a recording device as well as transcribed notes to ensure all information was correct. When the participant is at ease and comfortable with the researcher, the researcher can discover the truth and ensure the research is untainted by personal beliefs, interest, or values (Thomas, 2017). Even though the researcher may try to remain unbiased, there is always a possibility of subjectivity that can manifest through classification of data, personal relationships with participants, or among other areas of the research development (Thomas, 2017).

There is the possibility the results may differ from expected results, and the unbiased researcher must remain objective in reporting the data (Yin, 2018). I have collaborated with companies that outsource their materials and products and that have experienced issues with defective materials or having had wrong products returned to them. However, I did not have any working relationship with the participants I used for this study. While conducting this research, I listened intently to understand the topics discussed while remaining subjective and remaining ethical during the data collection. My study procedures adhered to the protocols within *The Belmont Report* that identify ethical principles that determine the conduct of behavior involving human subjects (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2015). *The Belmont Report* initially came about due to the mishandling of participants in the Tuskegee Syphilis study where

African American men were unethically treated and uninformed about treatments given to them (Adashi et al., 2018).

Consent during the study is an important factor that protects the autonomy of the participant (Adashi et al., 2018). Within *The Belmont Report*, there are interviewing procedures and reminders for the researcher to gather information such as the consent form needed from the participant. I adhered to *The Belmont Report* by protecting the privacy, freedom, and dignity of my participants. In reference to freedom, I am referring to the right to change their minds if they no longer wished to participate in the study. The data collection for the study included interviews, member checking, and document review.

I used an interview protocol to maintain organization while collecting data (see Appendix A). My rationale for using an interview protocol is that it allows the researcher to remain focused on the questions and to request any follow up information while remaining unbiased. Because I conducted a qualitative study, the interview protocol was appropriate. An interview protocol includes substantive questions that reflect the inquiries of researchers (Yin, 2018). The protocol prompts the researcher to collect not only the consent form from participants but reminds the researcher to gather other required information necessary for collection. The interview protocol is not only a guideline of questions but a guide of procedures directing the researcher through the process (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012).

Participants

This qualitative multiple case study included participants who were leaders from the same area providing products to manufacturing companies located in the Southeast region of Virginia. In a qualitative research study, selection of the participant is imperative in obtaining the data needed to answer the interview questions as well as the research question. The participants must have had an interest in and understanding of the research findings (see Price et al., 2020). The eligibility criteria of the participants were leaders who have worked more than 5 years in upper management with successful strategies for identifying defects fabricated by their organization before fulfilling customers' orders, which supported the research question in this study. Another criterion of eligibility of the leaders was that each leader must have had expertise and understanding of the research study question. Price et al. (2020) stated that participants in research should receive consent forms and forms stating that no harm will come to them while guaranteeing anonymity. Participants should be familiar with the research and interview questions to provide quality data to the researcher.

To gain access to the participants, I posted to social media, including Facebook and Instagram. The posting included the eligibility criteria for participation. Once participants identified their interest via social media, I sent them an invitation letter (see Appendix B) with the consent form. To determine if they met the criteria for eligibility, at the beginning of the interview, I read the consent form, which included the eligibility requirements. The participants then self-identified they met the eligibility criteria. Following that confirmation, we began the interview.

To establish a relationship with the participants, a letter was sent to each participant explaining the intent and purpose of the study (see Appendix B). The ethical and confidentiality aspects of the study were explained to each potential participant reassuring the anonymity of everyone. After the letter, I continued correspondence through additional emails and phone calls. Once a working relationship had begun, I introduced and explained the consent form and the interview protocol (see Appendix A). Peu et al. (2021) stated that it is important to remind participants of their right to change their minds about participating in the study at any point of the interview protocol. There were two individuals who participated in the Zoom interviews and then changed their minds, stating they were no longer interested in participating. Their answers from the interview were destroyed by shredding all papers. The participants who did not meet the criteria of the study research question were not chosen to participate in the study.

Research Method and Design

In this section, I explain the purpose for choosing a qualitative research method instead of a quantitative or mixed method research. This was a qualitative, multiple case study where I explored strategies by successful leaders to identify defective products before fulfilling customers' orders. The research method and design supported the research question.

Research Method

I used a qualitative research method. The qualitative research method is appropriate for exploring a subject or issue in relation to experiences and individuals (Naji et al., 2020). For this study, I explored strategies successful leaders use to identify

defective products before fulfilling customers' orders. The data collected by using qualitative research involves exploring topics in more detail and depth compared to quantitative research (Hashimov, 2015). A qualitative method is appropriate for exploring ideas using open ended questions (Naji et al., 2020). A qualitative study was more appropriate to understand the phenomenon of strategically identifying defects in products before fulfilling customers' orders to the automotive industry.

Quantitative research involves the inclusion of measurement of facts along with an investigation of a causal relationship (Truong et al., 2020). Researchers use the quantitative method to concentrate on hypotheses and statistical analyses (Mukoka et al., 2021b). Quantitative research was not appropriate for this study because I did not investigate causal relationships or conduct statistical analysis. The mixed method approach incorporates both qualitative and quantitative methods in a study (Mukoka et al., 2021a). This study did not include a quantitative component; therefore, the mixed method approach was not considered for this study.

Research Design

A multiple case study design was used to explore the strategies successful leaders use to provide products to manufacturing companies in the southeast region of Virginia. Yin (2018) stated that a case study may include one or several case studies. The researcher in a single case study may focus on a concern and dive into a deeper comprehension of the problem (Yin, 2018). The individual using a case study design can determine whether to explore a circumstance regardless of activity, group, or individual (Cronin, 2014). Crowe et al. (2011) noted that using the case study design assists the

researcher in exploring and assessing complex situations in a setting more conducive to the participant. I chose to perform a multiple case study because I focused on multiple organizations where I collected data from semistructured interviews, documents from the company, and member checking. The multiple case study was chosen to allow me to examine multiple organizations.

I also considered phenomenological design, ethnography, and a narrative design. A researcher uses the phenomenological research design when the objective of the study depends on comprehending the crux of human experiences as depicted by subjects or participants (Moustakas, 1994). Phenomenology also relates to studying the world of the participant (Rennie, 2012). In understanding phenomenology, researchers study the lived human experiences of several subjects extensively to cultivate patterns and relationships (Moustakas, 1994). Phenomenology research design was not appropriate for this study because the study did not involve researching participants for their lived human experiences.

Researchers who use ethnography explore the cultural setting of a particular group of individuals within a community (Laws & McLeod, 2004). The data collected from an ethnographic design is an interpretation of sociocultural behavior, beliefs, practices, and knowledge of groups of individuals (Kaman, 1995). Goodrich et al. (2014) defined ethnography as sharing of culture within groups along with the influences of the culture. Manning (2016) provided a study incorporating positionality along with ethnography. The researcher explored gender, class, economic, and demographic status.

Using an ethnographic research design was not appropriate for this study because interpreting culture sharing groups was not the focus of this study.

In the narrative research design, the researcher studies the lives of individuals along with any stories provided by the participants that actively include the individuals in the research (Clandinin & Connelly, 2013). The story is then retold in a narrative chronology by the researcher, combining the researcher's information along with the participant's life stories ensuing a concerted narrative. According to Pinnegar and Daynes (2007), the narrative research design focuses on individual's stories and lived experiences, which in turn may prove challenging to the researcher. The challenge for the researcher is the amount of data necessary to collect about the individual's life experiences (Clandinin & Connelly, 2013). A narrative research design was not appropriate for this study because interpreting stories and experiences of individuals and groups was not the focus.

Data saturation is a process that can be achieved by data redundancy (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Data saturation is gained through the engagement of the study by the researcher through multiple data collection methods that encompass rich data and purposeful sampling until no new information to the researcher (Fusch & Ness, 2015). It is important in qualitative research designs to include data saturation because this ensures adequate amounts of data to be included to safeguard the credibility of the study and the results (Saunders et al., 2018). To reach data saturation, I used interviews and reviewed documents from the companies. I continued interviews until I heard the same ideas repeated, and no new ideas evolved. After the interviews were completed, I reviewed the

transcribed data and followed up with another meeting with participants to member check with everyone in the study.

Population and Sampling

In this multiple case study, I used manufacturing companies whose leaders use strategies to fabricate parts and identify defects in products before fulfilling customers' orders to the automotive industry. Because I used expert participants to provide vigorous insight, a small sample size was advantageous to generate the most impact and the best informative information. Agyepong and Adjei (2008) used a case study for their research and had a sample size of two participants to record the experiences. I interviewed 10 participants and continued to collect data until data saturation had transpired. Morse (2015) stated that researchers who use smaller sample sizes are more astute. When the research question is specific and the collection of data is decisive, there is a great possibility data saturation may occur (Suri, 2011).

There are several types of sampling, such as systematic, stratified, and random, which may be used for qualitative research (Mukoka et al., 2021b). Any one of these types of sampling may assist the researcher in obtaining an appropriate from the participants (Mukoka et al., 2021a). For this study, purposeful or purposive sampling was chosen. Purposeful sampling is when the researcher relies on their own judgment when the selection for participation takes place (Suri, 2011). I chose this type of sampling to ensure I had participants who met the criteria for participation. In this study, the strategic experience of the participants to identify defects before fulfilling customers' orders was the main criteria for selection.

I performed Zoom interviews with participants. Connelly and Peltzer (2016) stated that giving the opportunity to choose when the interview takes place builds trust. Allowing the participants to have a telephone interview instead of face to face may make the participant feel more in control (Saura & Balsas, 2014). Before the interview began, I read the contents of the consent form. Reminding the participants of the contents of the consent form assisted in creating trust. During the research process, I began with 10 participants who all agreed to participate in the study. All 10 were given the same instructions and were asked the same questions using Zoom in a quiet location. There were two participants towards the end of the interviews who decided they did not wish to participate any longer. They were skeptical that information would get back to their employers. I reminded them of their option to opt out with no repercussions. I then discarded their data by shredding and collected data from two new participants.

Ethical Research

The ethical considerations for research are provided through the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB), which ensures ethical concerns are identified at all levels of the study. The primary goal of the IRB is to protect participants from harm as well as protect their privacy and their dignity (Brown et al., 2020). Privacy and anonymity are incorporated through a study's ethical foundation to protect participants while concurrently decreasing introduction to unintended harm (Wilson et al., 2018). I ensured ethical protection of all participants in this study participants through obtaining IRB approval, using an informed consent process, and using pseudonyms to keep participant information confidential. All data collected will be confidentially stored

for 5 years; then all data will be destroyed. My IRB approval number is 08-09-22-0465205.

The informed consent process is an integral part of research study. When participants receive the informed consent form, it is important not only for the participants to read the form but also to understand the statements within the form.

Nishimura et al. (2013) stated that many times the participants do not completely understand the informed consent form. The informed consent document used in this study included information such as: (a) confidentiality, (b) procedures, (c) voluntary nature of the study along with (d) purpose of study. Also included in the informed consent form is information letting the participants know they can withdraw from the study at any time, by informing the researcher. Possible participants should understand any probable risks or benefits from partaking in a study (Bouësseau & Coleman, 2008).

The informed consent included information about my study and explains my intent to conduct a study of the company's strategies used to minimize defects before the product is shipped from the company. First, emails were used through social media such as Facebook and Instagram to elicit participants willing to become a part of my study (see Appendix B). Once participants agreed to participate in my study, they were asked to provide information to ensure the potential participants met the criteria of the study. Once qualified individuals have met the criteria, informed consents were given to prospective participants. Participants initially responded to my email with the words "I consent." The consent form was reviewed again upon meeting the participant virtually. The participant

could withdraw from the study at any time before, during, or after the study. The participant could withdraw even if the study is not complete.

There were no incentives provided. Lastly, to protect the participant's confidentiality, the data obtained from the research will be locked in a file cabinet within my home for 5 years. It will then be destroyed. Protection and privacy of participants and the company are the foundation of this study. The company name was never used or mentioned anytime or anywhere within this study. Pseudonyms were used for the company as well as the participants to protect the identity of all parties involved. The company name was referred to as Organization A. The participants in this study were referred to as Participant A, Participant B etc.

Data Collection Instruments

For this study, I was the primary data collection instrument. When conducting research, the researcher operates as the human instrument for collecting and analyzing data (Linnenluecke et al., 2020). Assarroudi et al. (2018) expounded that on data collection as a variation of methods used in qualitative research such as (a) group or individual interviews; (b) observations; (c) textual or visual analysis of company documents, books, or videos. As part of data collection, I collected documentation from the company's website. Documentation included four different manufacturing processes along with two processes for inspection of products. The rest of the inspection processes collected from other company websites were similar to inspection documentation already collected. I asked all the participants for any public documentation they may have to assist with this study. I was given work instructions, team processes for inspection as well

as two procedures in inspection, handling and returning defective material.

Documentation is one of the multiple sources in collecting information for a case study (Smith, 2018).

Another source of collecting information is interviewing. Interviews, along with other sources of data, are essential in validating information (Smith, 2018). Interviews, especially personal interviews, are ideal for qualitative research because the researcher can discuss a specific topic with the participant and realize the participant's experiences (Atheer et al., 2019). I used interviews as a data collection source along with the interview protocol, document review and member checking and journal (field notes) to ensure validity, reliability, and alignment. The interview protocol (see Appendix B) included a checklist with questions to ensure all criteria are met including participant eligibility criteria, along with the participant's consent. I began the interview by providing the participants with information on the purpose of the study, reviewing the consent form with each participant, confirming they met the eligibility criteria, and requesting permission to transcribe and record the interview. I moved on to ask my interview questions and informed the participants I would follow up with member checking.

Data Collection Technique

Methodological triangulation is important in qualitative research. Researchers, when performing qualitative research, explore phenomena to gain understanding (Renz et al., 2018). Qualitative research may include note taking, interviews, and tape recording which combined, can assist with reliability of the results (Renz et al., 2018). Baker et al.

(2020) explained triangulation as validation of data through cross verification from two or more sources or methods. I used data triangulation in this study with data collection techniques including semistructured interviews, member checking, and company documentation from the organizations public websites regarding manufacturing capabilities when working with outsourced organizations. The documentation was used to compliment data collected from member checking and semistructured interviews.

Baker et al. (2020) stated that using two or more of these collecting techniques ensures the completeness, validity as well as the depth and breadth of the study.

Broadbent (2020) explained the advantages of using interviews for data collection as creating a personal connection to the participant to ensure their comfort and trust.

Interviews also create a space for follow-up questions. Broadbent stated that the disadvantages of interviews include the time required and that interviews are more complicated than a survey. The advantages of documentation of information are to increase transparency of data collected as well as increase collective knowledge of the subject. The disadvantages of documentation include the information is prone to damage or possible misplacement and lack of security for the information (Broadbent, 2020).

I contacted the participants through email with the consent form and requested they email me back "I consent" agreeing to participate in my study. After the participant's consent to the interview, a time was set up for the interview. At the beginning of the interview, I reiterated the main concepts from the consent form again to ensure the consent is still valid for participation. Once consent was validated, I confirmed the participant met the eligibility criteria, and then asked for permission to record and

transcribe the interview. The interview then began, and the participant answered the questions. There was not a pilot study.

The interview was one on one and performed on Zoom, while the questions were shared on the screen. There was no existing list of participants. I identified potential participants via social media by reading the consent form to each participant and reminding them of the eligibility criteria given to the participate before the interview was conducted. The eligibility requirements were also stated via social media on the flier for all interested potential participants. Once potential participants were identified, I provided an introductory email and a copy of the consent form. Participants replied through email "I consent" with their name typed out. I contacted ten potential participants and interviewed ten participants for a robust sample. During their individual interviews, there were two participants who decided they did not wish their information be used for this study. The information from those two participants was destroyed by a shredding machine. The interview was performed using Zoom and I was in a quiet place to conduct the interview to ensure the participant could hear and focus. To satisfy triangulation, a journal (field notes) was kept, along with member checking and document review. Participants were emailed a summary of their responses and followed up with a phone call to discuss their feedback and interpretation will follow, if more time is needed the request would be honored. No participants in this study needed extra time for interpretation.

I used an application from my cell phone. I did not use a digital recorder in case I could not work the recorder. I did not use the live scribe pen; I was afraid I might lose it

or not turn it on properly and miss some information. The cell phone was the best option for me. Covid restrictions have been lifted, however I did not meet any potential participants in person. There are preparations in place for Zoom. I kept a journal (field notes) with additional information about the participants such as body language, any questions they had, observations, and mental notes taken during the interview. This additional information was applied to the data analysis and later in findings as instrumental in providing transparency data in accordance with the problem statement.

Birt et al. (2016) stated that member checking focuses on the interpretation of the participant's response. After the interview ended, the interview was transcribed from the taping and summarized. A second virtual interview was set up to allow the participant to review the summarized interpretation to identify any corrections or add any additional information. Because the cell phone was used to record each interview, each participant individually was given the opportunity before the member checking process to hear the questions and their responses. Once the participants heard their responses, I was asked by four participants to add information such as clarifying a statement about a process used in a particular department of a company. Another participant asked if I could ask a particular question in another way giving the participant an opportunity to provide additional information on the question. By allowing the participants to add additional information and clarifying their statements before data analysis began, reliability and validity assisted in the data analysis and findings sections of the study.

Data Organization Technique

Methodological triangulation is important in qualitative research. Researchers, when performing qualitative research, explore phenomena to gain understanding (Renz et al., 2018). Qualitative research may include note taking, interviews and tape recording which combined, can assist in reliability of the results (Renz et al., 2018). Baker et al. (2020) explained triangulation as validation of data through cross verification from two or more sources or methods. I used data triangulation in this study with data collection techniques including semistructured interviews, transcripts, field notes, member checking and review of company documents. Baker et al. (2020) stated using two or more of these collecting techniques ensures the completeness, validity as well as the depth and breadth of the study. I labeled the files with P-A, P-B, P-C, P-D etc. which stood for Participant A, Participant B, Participant C, Participant D. These files will be secured in a filing cabinet for 5 years and then will be destroyed.

Broadbent (2020) explained the advantages of using interviews for data collection as creating a personal connection to the participant to ensure their comfort and trust.

Interviews also create a space for follow-up questions. The disadvantages of interviews include the time required and the interviews are more complicated than a survey (Broadbent, 2020). The advantages of documentation of information are to increase transparency of data collected as well as increase collective knowledge of the subject.

The disadvantages of documentation include that the information is prone to damage or possible misplacement and lack of security for the information (Broadbent, 2020).

I contacted the participants through email with the consent form and requested they email me back "I consent" agreeing to participate in my study. After the participant's consent to the interview, a time was set up for the interview. At the beginning of the interview, I reiterated the main concepts from the consent form again to ensure the consent was still valid for participation. The participant was then asked questions to ensure eligibility of criteria, permission to record and transcribe the interview. The interview then began and the participant answered the questions. There was not a pilot study.

Birt et al. (2016) stated that that member checking focuses on the interpretation of the participant's response. After the interview ended, the interview was transcribed from the taping and summarized. I set up a second virtual interview for member checking, to allow the participant to review the summarized interpretation and identify any corrections or add any additional information. During this interview, I provided each participant a written summarized interpretation and played back portions of the initial interview. I then asked each participant if any changes should be made to the interview summary document. I did not have to make corrections. I was asked to add additional information to clarify statements which assisted in the data analysis and findings sections of the study. The clarification of additional information consisted of the participant explaining oversight of their supplier. In the initial interview, one participant was not completely clear on the definition of oversight and realized after hearing the interview, the participants actually had more insight than previously noted.

Data Analysis

Researchers exploring phenomenon use triangulation methods to collect and analyze data (Sugita et al., 2021). Using the triangulation method ensures the data are accurate when obtained from different sources (Sugita et al., 2021). Case studies have several types of triangulation which include methodological, data, theory and investigator (Jackson, 2018). Methodological triangulation means a researcher will use several methods to have multiple perspectives on issues being studied (Jackson, 2018). I used methodological triangulation for this qualitative single case study.

As part of data collection, I collected documentation from the company's website, which included four different manufacturing processes along with two processes for inspection of products. The rest of the inspection processes were similar in comparison.

I asked all the participants for any public documentation they may have to assist with this study. I was given work instructions, team processes for inspection as well as two procedures in inspection, handling and returning defective material.

Documentation is one of the multiple sources in collecting information for a case study (Smith, 2018). I also included semistructured interviews and company documentation from the company's websites. The company documentation included overall processes for handling materials, along with quality documents. I was able to use these documents as research to align with the participant's responses to key questions during the interview.

To analyze data in qualitative research, coding is important for researchers to break down information collected to discover new information (Elliott, 2018). To

understand and explain the data, I followed Yin's (2018) five-step data analysis process. The five steps included: (a) compiling the data to align with the research question, (b) disassembling the data to understand and determine the data techniques, (c) reassembling or organizing the data, (d) interpreting the meaning of the data, and (e) concluding the data. Qualitative researchers using coding are enabled to identify, organize, and build theory (Williams & Moser, 2019).

The compiling phase included reviewing field notes, recordings from interviews and other data sources (Yin, 2018). I analyzed the interview data obtained from the semistructured interviews performed, not including the two participants' information due to their unwillingness to participate. I looked for repetitious terms, any keywords, and universal themes. During the disassembling phase, I looked for common theme patterns while analyzing the recordings and notes taken during the participant interviews. During this phase, data was reduced. After the data was collected and analyzed I uploaded the identified, transcribed data and information collected from participants into NVivo 12. NVivo is a data analysis program that can be used to code and categorize collected interview data (Öznacar et al., 2018). For qualitative data, the data analysis software used is synonymous to obtain similar data accounts to collect answers for questions (Öznacar et al., 2018).

During the third phase, which is reassembling, I reassembled the data and analyzed the data to identify any variances or parallels in the data to find emerging themes. By reassembling the data and comparing the field notes and company documents, I was able to find stewardship theory concepts which aligned with the participant's

answers. When making decisions during this step, comparisons should continue with other patterns or themes (Yin, 2018). Once the identified data was uploaded to NVivo 12, the collected data was then organized to patterns and themes (Renz et al., 2018). Once the patterns and themes were organized, I explored these themes and patterns for common trajectories between the data. I continued to research newly updated studies and journals more current that are prevalent to this study. Finding common trajectories between the data assists in building theory.

After the third phase of reassembling was completed, I interpreted the data to relate to the research question, as well as correlated the themes to my conceptual framework of stewardship theory and the literature. The data collected through documents was used to support evidence of my themes and patterns. The researcher has to familiarize and understand the data, as well as interpret the data correctly. Interpreting the data correctly ensures the researcher has collected the participants' experience (Clark & Vealé, 2018). Once a researcher has interpreted the common trajectories, the results build a theory which explains phenomenon (Gehman et al., 2018). The usage of stewardship theory as the conceptual framework applies to the data analysis because concepts such as intrinsic motivation, collaboration, and autonomy were discovered through analysis. The final step of the five step analysis is concluding, which presented the results of the study and provided suggestions for future research (Yin, 2018).

Reliability and Validity

Reliability

For this study, I was the primary data collection instrument. When conducting research, the researcher operates as the human instrument for collecting and analyzing data (Linnenluecke et al., 2020). While working through the research, I ensured dependability in this study through member checking. Naidu and Prose (2018) stated that when the researcher takes on the role of interviewing the participants with open-ended questions, the open-ended questions allow participants to freely express themselves without interference from outside sources. Dependability is stressed by qualitative researchers through trustworthiness and creditability of the research (Carcary, 2020). Using interviews from the participants in the study creates a personal connection to the participants, which ensures their trust and comfort (Broadbent, 2020). Birt et al. (2016) stated that member checking focuses on the interpretation of the participant's response. Participants within the study should feel safe, physically as well as psychologically and protected against misinterpretations and misunderstandings (Tess Huia Moeke-Maxwell et al., 2018). Member checking allows the participant to check, comment on or prove data interpretations from the researcher (Iivari, 2018).

Validity

Credibility, confirmability, dependability, and transferability are used to test the validity of the research performed (Panda, 2020). Researchers use credibility, conformity, dependability, and transferability to assess the trustworthiness of the research (Nikfarid et al., 2020). Research strategies such as triangulation and member checking are methods

researchers can use to improve study result quality, dependability, and repeatability as well as credibility (Spiers et al., 2018).

FitzPatrick (2019) found that open dialogue with the leaders of a manufacturing company, along with collected documents, demonstrated credibility and quality, which led to improved consumer satisfaction. Confirmability is the record-keeping of all data sources, sampling, and implementation of procedures (El Hussein et al., 2016). To reach confirmability, other researchers' interpretation of the data confirms the data as accurate, verifiable data, and not false or exaggerated (Korstjen & Moser, 2018). In research, transferability allows other or future researchers to conclude if the findings of a study are valid or beneficial to the new research (Connelly, 2016).

The responsibility of a researcher is to provide detailed data of the research process to contribute to future research by other researchers who can transfer and use the results in their setting to ensure transferability (Korstjen & Moser, 2018). I ensured credibility by using member checking. Transferability is essential for other researchers; therefore, I presented a detailed description of the findings for future researchers. Along with the detailed description of findings, I also included a reflective journal of notes or field notes on the interviews with the participants. This journal (field notes) consisted of thoughts, body language and additional comments from the participants. The journal also included notes such as voice inflections and breathing by the participants.

As the researcher, I collected data, reviewed documents and conducted semistructured interviews until no new data or themes emerged. During the research phenomena, when all new ideas are exhausted, then data saturation has occurred

(Carnevale, 2016). The thoroughness of data collection confirms data saturation (Carnevale, 2016).

Transition and Summary

In Section 2, I addressed the purpose statement, my role as the researcher, the selected participants who have successfully implemented strategies to minimize defects with their outsourced product, research methodology and design. I described the population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments, technique, data organization technique, and data analysis. Section 2 concluded with information on methods and techniques for researchers to ensure the trustworthiness of my study. Section 3 will begin with an introduction, the purpose statement, along with the research question and the presentation of findings.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies leaders of organizations fabricating parts use for identifying defects in products before fulfilling customers' orders within the manufacturing industry. In this section, I include an analysis of my findings from data derived from semistructured interviews with 10 participants and public documents from manufacturing companies' websites located in the southeastern region of Virginia.

The first theme was communication and relationship with outsourced entities. The participants were adamant about communicating with their suppliers and having a relationship with the suppliers, so if there were questions or issues, the supplier felt comfortable enough to contact the organization for clarification. Simon et al. (2021) stated that for the contract between the organization and the supplier to be successful, a close and transparent relationship is a must along with performance measurements that are agreed upon between the two parties.

The second theme was monitoring and tracking the quality system for product defects. All the participants agreed that there needed to be some sort of monitoring and tracking system within the quality division of the organization. The third theme was communication and the relationship with customer service for defective products. In this theme, participants believed in the importance of being able to communicate and had a relationship with customer service when defective products were recognized. The fourth theme was communication and continuous improvement with customer defects. The

participants explained there should be an element of continuous improvement in the organization's quality system.

Presentation of the Findings

The research question was as follows: What strategies do leaders of organizations fabricating parts use to identify defects in products before fulfilling customers' orders in the manufacturing industry? The themes that emerged were (a) communication and relationship with outsourced entities, (b) monitoring and tracking the quality system for product defects, (c) communication and relationship with customer service for defective products and (d) communication and continuous improvement regarding customer's product defects. The conceptual framework of stewardship theory applied in the findings by data analysis through research. The concepts of collaboration, intrinsic motivation, autonomy, and identification were identified through the participant's answers.

Theme 1: Communication and Relationship With Outsourced Entities

The use of communication and relationship with outsourced entities was the first theme that emerged relating to strategies leaders use to identify defects (see Table 2). Nguyen et al. (2021) stated that the buyer-supplier relationship involves an alliance of both entities voluntarily going into an agreement through communication, which results in a relationship of sharing knowledge, services, technologies, and products. Both parties having good communication with each other while building on their relationship can promote good business. Relationships that are trust-based and long term with suppliers can promote better performance benefits than selecting a cheaper supplier (Ayman et al., 2021).

Table 2

Frequency of Theme 1: Use of Communication and Relationship With Outsourced Entities

Theme	Number of participants	Frequency of public
	mentioning this	documents
	theme	mentioning this theme
Relationship with outsourced entities	4	1

The use of communications with organizations was mentioned by six of the 10 participants during the interviews and from public documents retrieved from the manufacturing company website. P-F stated, "Having open lines of communications can help with setting goals and improve relationships." Mir et al. (2021) confirmed that communication is not just for sharing information but is also a tool for impacting behavior by focusing on important issues. P-D indicated that communication was important when working as a team because it depended on ensuring inspections for outsourced entities were done correctly. Disruptions of any type within the relationship of the two manufacturing departments should be at a minimum, with the goal to reach each milestone with open communication (de Goede et al., 2018).

In contrast, Figueiredo (2021) related challenges of companies having to rethink their communications, production, and distribution due to the pandemic. Initially, when

the pandemic started, corporations, companies, and organizations were all at a standstill, each watching their customer's actions on how to proceed. As stated in the literature review, leaders realized their employees now working from home had plenty of autonomy when interacting with the team and upper management (Palumbo, 2020).

Communication and the relationship with the outsourced entity is not as important as trust with respect to productivity. Ganesan et al. (2022) explained that not only is having good communication essential with outsourced suppliers but there must also be an understanding of what is needed to ensure the relationship is sustainable. Public documents retrieved from the manufacturing company's website confirmed strong communication with suppliers from their initial partnership with the company. These documents assisted the supplier in working with the company by providing information on communicating with different departments, explaining types of products needed from the supplier as well as providing best practices for working with the company.

The company builds a relationship with the outsource supplier offering training and other resources for success in working with the manufacturing company. This theme aligns with my conceptual framework because the participants noted that communication, relationship, and collaboration are all tools needed by the parent organization and the outsourced entity need in order to be successful. These ideas also align with the constructs in stewardship theory and with the literature. For example, within the supply chain organization, especially in outsourcing, all parties must come together to collaborate on information and form a bond of trust (de Goede et al., 2018).

Theme 2: Monitoring System and Tracking the Quality System for Product Defects

After analyzing the data, I evaluated Theme 2 as systems for monitoring and tracking the quality systems for product defects (see Table 3). If the outsourced organization is not the right fit, risk such as product defects, injury, or death could happen to the consumer, which hampers the entire supply chain stream (Agrawal & Singh, 2021). The participants in my study discussed monitoring and tracking the quality system of the supplier's products using checklists and supplier scorecards. This theme was also supported by standard operating procedures and my field notes. From my journal (field notes), I wrote down that participants mentioned the ability to engage in creating standard operating procedures and other quality measures in order to support the demands of the manufacturing process. The participants seemed to have a behavior of ownership and motivation to continue process improvement. As indicated by the study, leaders working in the manufacturing industry must be conscious of outsourcing and the associated risk of their company's reputation of quality when products are received from other organizations. Table 3 shows the frequency of the theme monitoring system and tracking quality system along with the public documents obtained from manufacturing companies.

Table 3

Frequency of Theme 2: Monitoring System and Tracking the Quality System for Product Defects

Theme	Number of participants mentioning this theme	Frequency of public documents mentioning this theme			
			Monitoring system	5	3
			Tracking quality system	6	3

The monitoring system was mentioned by five of the 10 participants, while the tracking system was mentioned by six of the 10 participants during the interviews and from the public website of the manufacturing companies. P-B mentioned checking to see if a supplier has a system to monitor processes daily to provide data showing they are shipping out the product expected. Betul et al. (2022) explained that organizational leaders may have supply chain achievement when systems for measuring and monitoring supplier performance are in place. Standard operating procedures from the manufacturer's company website showed that managers perform oversight of their suppliers and use processes to monitor performance of delivered products.

The aforementioned documents explained to potential and current suppliers the expectations of the organization on how the supplier should have a monitoring and tracking system comparable to the organization's system. The same documents also explained that the organization had the obligation of supplier visits to ensure proper

oversight was taking place. P-D explained the monitoring system of using checklists to ensure employees are on the same page when inspecting materials and products to be used in inventory. As previously stated in the literature review, leaders of organizations relying on outsourced entities to provide their products and services are experiencing a high number of failure rates with the quality of products due to the difficulty of monitoring these entities (Wang et al., 2021).

P-G stated that products from suppliers were easily monitored by using paperwork transfers and pallets that employees could easily see visually. By using rapid access to reliable and relevant information, an organization can expend traceability to track material in the supply chain from producer to user (Westerlund et al., 2021). As stated in the literature review, the reliability of the supply chain is important to leaders as the entire chain is responsible for the final product dependability (Wang et al., 2021). Leaders working with the employees to practice proper processes in monitoring and tracking their quality system also practice intrinsic motivation, which aligns with finding strategies for identifying defects. In contrast, Ruderman and Clerkin (2020) explained that monitoring and tracking materials through the quality system was not the only way to ensure products and materials were not defective. Building self-management skills or interpersonal competence assists employees to maximize performance.

As described in the literature review, professionals have identified some competencies such as self-regulation, self-awareness, and self-motivation. These competencies assist leaders by increasing self-direction (Ma et al., 2021). These competencies align well with my conceptual framework and align with autonomy.

Leaders with these competencies have the ability to act on their own interests and values. As stated from the conceptual framework, stewardship theory, using higher autonomy allows the leader or employee of an organization to have flexible access to initiate their own actions without restrictions (Ruoxuan et al., 2020).

Theme 3: Communication and Relationship With Customer Service for Defective Products

Theme 3 was communication and relationship with customer service for defective products (see Table 4). Li et al. (2021) expounded that quality of service is important when it comes to working in customer service and communicating with employees and clients. Disruptions of any type within the relationship between the two organizations should be at a minimum, with the goal of reaching each milestone with open communication (de Goede et al., 2018). Li et al. further explained that communication can be considered warmth or competence. Warmth contains trustworthiness, friendliness, helpfulness, and sincerity. Competence includes effectiveness, intelligence, and creativity, which can enhance communication with customer service. P-C said that their department responded to customer feedback by contacting the customer with a friendly attitude and eliciting as much information as possible. P-E explained that sending out a friendly email to solicit feedback from the customer assists in keeping good communications between organizations.

Table 4

Frequency of Theme 3: Communication and Relationship With Customer Service for Defective Products

Theme	Number of participants mentioning the theme	Frequency of public documents mentioning this theme
Communication with customer service	4	4
Relationship with customer service	3	2

Communication was mentioned by four out of the 10 participants, while relationship was mentioned by three out of the 10 participants during the interviews.

Quality plays a significant role in continuing sustainable relationships, lucrativeness, and endurance of companies (Osman et al., 2022). As stated with collaboration from the literature review, de Goede et al. (2018) explained that relationships between two parties, the buyer and supplier, must form a bond where a transparency relationship exists to complete the required task or goal that is expected on both sides. P-E stated that employees have extensive conversations with customers and clients to ensure all questions are asked and understood before working on material. P-J explained the importance of having a working relationship with their fellow employees to connect with all individuals linked to the specific task. Gawankar et al. (2020) clarified that leaders accessing valuable insights when changing the global market have opportunities to strengthen relationships while improving performances. In contrast, Oduro et al. (2020)

stated that communication and relationships are not the important elements that enhance performance within an organization. Conversely, collaboration, trust, and atmosphere are elements that may enhance performance. Collaboration consists of buying organizations and their suppliers cooperating effectively with each other and can assist buyers in maintaining a competitive advantage. Trust enables each party to exercise good faith in their dealings with the other party. Last, atmosphere is defined as a space where the relationship between the buying organization and the supplier is a strong affirmative atmosphere.

As noted in the public documents, the supplier's communication was welcomed along with any questions the supplier may have about becoming a supplier. The supplier who had current contracts with the organizations was given the chance to meet with the organization along with other suppliers to network. Even though there was potential competition amongst the suppliers, this organization provided a networking event for suppliers. This element aligns with my conceptual framework as discussed in identification. In the conceptual framework, the leader understands that assisting their organization in completing objectives is important not only for themselves but for long term milestones of the organization (Li et al., 2019). When the leader's vision and mission align with the organization's statements, the leader exemplifies confidence and certainty.

Theme 4: Communication and Continuous Improvement With Customer's Defects

Theme 4 was communication and continuous improvement with customers' defects (see Table 5). Customers writing reviews share not only their experience with a

product but they also talk about the components of the product and the services (Singh et al., 2020). Consumers who have been through situations of product defects can be less than understanding due to suspiciousness of the organization from past product defects recalls (Enis & Bayraktaroglu, 2021). Barre et al. (2021) suggested that quality is categorized as excellence, conformity to requirements, value of money, and meeting of customer's requirements. Meeting and exceeding quality ensure an organization's sustainability in the competitive environment. P-B explained that processes and procedures used in eliciting feedback from customers include face to face and Zoom to provide insight to the customer base. P-H stressed communication through verbally speaking to the customer for quality feedback, then ensuring the responses are relayed to the rest of the team.

Table 5

Frequency of Theme 4: Communication and Continuous Improvement With Customer's Defects

Theme	Number of participants mentioning the theme	Frequency of public documents mentioning the theme
Communication and customer's product defect	3	3
Continuous improvement and customer's product defect	2	2

Communication was mentioned by three out of the 10 participants, while continuous improvement was mentioned by two out of the 10 participants during the interviews and from the public website of the manufacturing companies. Production management's primary focus is improving processes while decreasing employee criticism (Boeriu & Canja, 2022). Grenzfurtner and Gronalt (2021) explained that continuous improvement is a commitment to eliminate waste within systems and processes and to increase the efficiency of an organization. P-A commented that a continuous improvement report is issued if any reports of defective materials are discovered. P-C stated that continuous reports are used to report when subcontractors have defective products.

This theme aligned with my conceptual framework because continuous improvement is a characteristic of motivation. With this characteristic, the motivation for continuous improvement includes working with integrity and honesty without looking for reward (Schmidthuber & Hilgers, 2019). In the conceptual framework, stewardship theory leaders, along with employees, are given responsibilities within their organizations, with an expectation of desired results. When an organization works with a supplier, the motivation of leaders and employees whose services and/or products are outsourced to parent organizations has an expected result of timely delivery of great quality at a reasonable cost.

Applications to Professional Practice

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies leaders of organizations fabricating parts use for identifying defects in products before

fulfilling customers' orders within the manufacturing industry. Four themes that emerged included (a) communication and relationship with outsourced entities, (b) monitoring and tracking the quality system for product defects, (c) communication and relationship with customer service for defective products, and (d) communication and continuous improvement regarding customer's product defects.

The findings of this study focused on the strategies leaders of organizations fabricating parts used for identifying defects in products before fulfilling customers' orders in the manufacturing industry. This study uncovered strategies and processes that may assist in increasing the quality of manufactured products. One strategy is for employees to have a quick meeting after lunch with the supervisors to discuss any issues discovered from the morning assignments. Providing a space and time for employees to present information allows issues and questions to be discussed and handled before the issue(s) or defective product(s) move to another location, which will escalate the situation.

Another possible strategy is employees working in teams to perform assignments and double check steps to ensure accuracy. Leaders in the manufacturing industry could use the results from this study to minimize defects from outsourced organizations.

Minimizing defects could benefit the consumer, increase profit margins, and increase local communities' profits. In addition, the research findings within the study could assist business leaders in improving production strategies that contribute to addressing defective products from outsourced organizations, which could enhance consumer safety.

Implications for Social Change

One of the objectives of this study was to engender positive social change by concentrating on the issue of product defects. Product defect concerns have significant social implications and risks. Risks include accepting non-compliant material from organizations with substandard quality processes. Another risk would prevent counterfeit parts from entering inspection areas, which may prevent sabotage of significant components—lastly, the threat of terrorism by installing poorly made parts that could fail and cause detrimental damage.

The results could encourage leaders to use the appropriate strategic planning methods and further research to implement additional effective safety measures. The implications for social change can lead to safer vehicles on the highways, which can save lives and reduce recalls that result in financial losses that can affect the stability of jobs in the manufacturing industry. First responders to accidents will have more time to assist with other emergencies.

Recommendations for Action

I researched successful strategies to explore leadership strategies for automobile leaders of organizations fabricating parts for identifying product defects before fulfilling customers' orders in the automotive industry. Risk management is an essential component of cost and quality. Leaders should consider the complexity of applying a concept such as a quality control program to an overseas outsourcing organization. There are several benefits to operating in a global supply network, and there are risks that can expose leaders and their organizations to possible defects (Martin et al., 2011). To

alleviate defect risk in the global sourcing chain, a need exists to implement policies by leaders that (a) ensure implementing risk management is rooted throughout the supply chain and (b) provide an avenue for the supply chain to respond to erratic change with a quickness (Martin et al., 2011). The suppliers to the global supply chain network are important and critical in accomplishing outsourcing. Suppliers have ways of managing their proficiencies through the global supply chain. However, these capabilities are unknown to all included in the process (Perunovic et al., 2012).

The results of this study could prove valuable for manufacturing industry leaders, consumers, and supply chain professionals in other industries who outsource their suppliers. The results could encourage leaders to use the appropriate strategic planning methods and further research to implement additional effective safety measures. Leaders in the manufacturing industry could use the results from this study to minimize defects from outsourced organizations.

Recommendations for further action could include better communication and relationships between the outsourced company and the suppliers. Li et al. (2021) indicated that quality of service is important when working in customer service and communicating with employees and clients. The outsourcing company personnel could set up a monitoring system to track the quality of the supplier's products using a checklist and supplier scorecards. Organization leaders could work with the suppliers to motivate leaders and employees whose services are outsourced to parent organizations, therefore, leading to timely delivery and excellent quality at a reasonable cost.

The results of this study will be distributed at leadership conferences, in journals, and among automotive leaders at routine meetings. In addition, the results of this study could become a valuable source for training in the manufacturing industry and other industries that outsource their supply chain. The information could be included in conversations in board meetings. The suppliers could obtain the information from the results and distribute safety information before company leaders purchase the supplies. The information could be included in disclaimers before selling the supplies to the automobile leaders and other industries.

Recommendations for Further Research

This study's findings contributed to the literature regarding strategies to assist manufacturing leaders of organizations fabricating parts for identifying product defects by fulfilling customer orders in the automotive industry. This qualitative method and design in this research study included limitations because of the structure of the study. The qualitative research method is appropriate for exploring a subject or issue concerning experiences and individuals (Naji et al., 2020). A quantitative method could garner more results by including statistical information. Yin (2018) indicated that quantitative research includes testing relationships and capturing larger audiences by generalization. The quantitative method could assist in capturing larger audiences and more experimental research to test the products on the market.

A multiple case study design assisted with exploring successful leaders' strategies to provide products to manufacturing companies in the southeast region of Virginia. Yin (2018) stated that a case study may include one or several case studies. In a single case

study, the researcher may focus on a concern and dive into a deeper comprehension of the problem (Yin, 2018). Using a case study design, the individual can determine whether to explore a circumstance regardless of activity, group, or individual (Cronin, 2014). Crowe et al. (2011) noted that using the case study design assists the researcher in exploring and assessing complex situations in a setting more conducive to the participant.

Limitations are unidentified circumstances that transpire, which can weaken the study (Yin, 2018). Within this qualitative study, the limitations included participants who may lack experience in identifying defective products. Future research could include participants with more years of experience. Participants with more years of experience could offer better solutions for suppliers in the auto industry.

Another limitation of this study was that the space provided may not have been conducive for the interviews. If the participant and researcher are placed in a room with no privacy or the room is not secured, the participant may feel uneasy about answering the interview questions truthfully. If the participant feels uneasy or may receive backlash from their organization, they may withdraw from the interview at any time. Future research could include locations that were comfortable for the participants.

Another limitation to the study was the time allotted for each interview and the times of day the interview might be given. Depending on the time allotted for the interview, the participant may decide to shorten their answers, leaving out valuable data. If given substantial time, the participant may need to add information as a filler to their statements. In future research, the participants could have more time to complete the interview; therefore, they would not rush through their answers.

Reflections

When reflecting on my experience while on the journey to obtain a DBA, the doctoral process tested me in ways I never thought I would witness. There were many times I wanted to give up; however, I realized that someone needed my study to help them. In the beginning of my doctoral journey, there were general explanations of the program and how aggressive the doctoral candidate needed to be to succeed in a timely manner. It seemed as if those professors running the program were expecting the chairs of the doctoral candidates to drive the students into working fast to graduate from the program.

Upon entering the program, the professors employed by Walden University explained that students/candidates who worked were welcomed, and the professors were willing to work with flexible schedules. Once entering the program, I discovered the program was not as flexible, and I was at the mercy of several zealous instructors before I started working on my capstone study. Because all my classes were online, I believed it would be difficult to reach professors when I had questions or issues arose. After I communicated with professors and understood the professor's expectations, I was able to move forward in the program. After completing the program, I think back and realize if I had been given certain information sooner, such as starting my problem and purpose statement earlier, while understanding this was the foundation of my study, writing my dissertation would have gone smoother.

Conclusion

This qualitative multiple case study was appropriate to explore strategies leaders of organizations fabricating parts use for identifying product defects before fulfilling customers' orders within the manufacturing industry. Outsource providers can deliver defective parts to automobile industry manufacturers that could hurt consumers, especially children. Product recall occurs on a regular basis; however, before a product is in recall, actions should occur that ensure the safety of motorist, pedestrians, and first responders.

The automobile leaders take risks when they purchase products from an outsourced company. The outsourced company leaders should communicate with the automobile leaders about the product. A better relationship and communication could yield better results that could save lives. Monitoring systems could track the quality of products and the supplies could create scorecards and checklists. Safety is essential in the automobile industry. Defective parts should not have a chance to occur on the market. Many accidents occur because of defective parts. A human life should not be a sacrifice or a risk factor. Risk management is important when human lives are at stake.

I used stewardship theory as the conceptual framework for my study. Leaders should practice stewardship leadership in business practices. Leaders need to assure good quality products. For good quality products, several factors may take place that detours the goals and milestones of the organization. Goals such as good quality products, ontime delivery, and reasonable cost become jeopardized for the consumer and the organization. Defective products may cause product recalls from the organization to

consumers, leading to mistrust. This mistrust may also lead to organizations closing (Muralidharan et al., 2019). Along with defective products and product recalls leaders who are not using stewardship practices and are unfamiliar with supply chain operations may not concern themselves with risk management. This concept is beneficial because there is a need to implement policies by leaders that (a) ensure implementing risk management is rooted throughout the supply chain and (b) provide an avenue for the supply chain to respond to erratic change with quickness (Martin et al., 2011). The results of this study could prove valuable for manufacturing industry leaders, consumers, and supply chain professionals in other industries who outsource their suppliers.

References

- Achmad, T., Ghozali, I., & Pamungkas, I. D. (2022). Hexagon fraud: Detection of fraudulent financial reporting in state-owned enterprises indonesia. *Economies*, 10(1), 1318. https://doi.org/10.3390/economies10010013
- Adashi, E., Walters, L. B., & Menikoff, J. (2018). The Belmont report at 40: Reckoning with time. American Journal of Public Health, 108(10), 1345–1348.

 http://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304580
- Agrawal, S., & Singh, R. K. (2021). Outsourcing and reverse supply chain performance:

 A triple bottom line approach. *Benchmarking*, 28(4), 1146–1163.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-09-2020-0498
- Agyepong, I. A., & Adjei, S. (2008). Public social policy development and implementation: A case study of the Ghana National Health Insurance Scheme.

 Health and Policy Planning, 23, 150–160. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czn002
- Alam, M. K. (2021). A systematic qualitative case study: Questions, data collection,

 NVivo analysis and saturation. Qualitative Research in Organizations &

 Management, 16(1), 1-31. https://doi.org/10.1108/QROM-09-2019-1825
- Amartey, L. A., Yu, M., & Chukwu-lobelu, O. (2019). Corporate governance in Ghana:

 An analysis of board accountability in Ghanaian listed banks. *Journal of Financial Regulation and Compliance*, 27(2), 126–140.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/JFRC-12-2017-0111
- Asian, S., Javad, K. P., Nazarpour, A., & Tabaeeian, R. A. (2019). On the importance of service performance and customer satisfaction in third-party logistics

- selection. Benchmarking, 26(5), 1550–1564. http://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-05-2018-0121
- Assarroudi, A., Heshmati Nabavi, F., Armat, M. R., Ebadi, A., & Vaismoradi, M. (2018).

 Directed qualitative content analysis: The description and elaboration of its underpinning methods and data analysis process. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 23(1), 42–55. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987117741667
- Aßländer, M. S., Roloff, J., & Nayir, D. Z. (2016). Suppliers as stewards? Managing social standards in first- and second-tier suppliers. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 139(4), 661–683. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-016-3148-0
- Aswini, K. (2018). Advantages and disadvantages of outsourcing. *Shanlax International Journal of Commerce*, 6, 7–9. https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/211842749.pdf
- Atheer, A. M., Hafeez-Baig, A., & Gururajan, R. (2019). A qualitative research to explore practices that are utilized for managing talent development in the higher education environment: A case study in six Australian universities. *Journal of Industry-University Collaboration*, 1(1), 24–37. http://doi.org/10.1108/JIUC-02-2019-003
- Ayman, B., Rasha, Z., & Aljuaid, M. (2021). Impact of social and technical lean management on operational performance in manufacturing SMEs: The roles of process and management innovations. [Social and technical lean management] *Business Process Management Journal*, 27(5), 1418–1444. https://doi.org/10.1108/BPMJ-06-2020-0252
- Baker, H. K., Narayanage, J. D., Premaratne, S. P., & Weerakoon, Y. K. (2020).

- Corporate governance and dividend policy in Sri Lankan firms: A data triangulation approach. *Qualitative Research in Financial Markets*, 12(4), 543–560. http://doi.org/10.1108/QRFM-11-2019-0134
- Barre, V., David, O. R., Medovich, C., Lovera, G., & Hoch, M. (2021). Building a sustainable high-performance customer experience and product performance (CxPP): The JJV experience. *TQM Journal*, 33(8), 1806–1824. https://doi.org/10.1108/TQM-12-2020-0309
- Bennett, N. J., Whitty, T. S., Finkbeiner, E., Pittman, J., Bassett, H., Gelcich, S., & Allison, E. H. (2018). Environmental stewardship: A conceptual review and analytical framework. *Environmental Management*, 61(4), 597–614. http://doi.org.10.1007/s00267-017-0993-2
- Bentzen, T. (2021). Breaking the vicious circle of escalating control: Connecting politicians and public employees through stewardship. *Administrative*Sciences, 11(3), 63-69. https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci11030063
- Betul, A. A., Murat, C. T., & Dinler, D. (2022). Supplier management by distributing orders among new and existing suppliers: The methodology and its application to a fast fashion company. *Journal of Fashion Marketing and Management*, 26(5), 813–831. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFMM-04-2021-0080
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802–1811. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Boeriu, A. E., & Canja, C. M. (2022). Application of new methodology for continuous

- improvement in bread making: a case study in Romania. *Acta Technica*Corviniensis Bulletin of Engineering, 15(3), 57–62.

 https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/application-new-methodology-continuous/docview/2718386814/se-2
- Boon, J. (2018). Moving the governance of shared service centres (SSCs) forward:

 Juxtaposing agency theory and stewardship theory, *Public Money & Management*, 38(2), 97–104, https://doi.org/10.1080/09540962.2018.1407135
- Bouësseau, M.-C., & Coleman, C. H. (2008). How do we know that research ethics committees are really working? The neglected role of outcomes assessment in research ethics review. *BMC Medical Ethics*, 9(1), 6–16. https://doi-org/10.1186/1472-6939-9-6
- Broadbent, D. (2020). Not another survey! Use interviews instead to understand needs in your library. Library Leadership & Management (Online), 35, 1–12.

 https://www.proquest.com/magazines/not-another-survey-use-interviews-instead/docview/2491246965/sc-2?accountid=14872
- Brown, C., Spiro, J., & Quinton, S. (2020). The role of research ethics committees:

 Friend or foe in educational research? An exploratory study. *British Educational Research Journal*, 46, 747–769. https://doi.org/10.1002/berj.3654
- Budler, M., Jaksie, M., & Vilfan, T. (2021). Logistics outsourcing in large manufacturing companies: The case of Slovenia and lessons from other countries. *Economic and Business Review for Central and South Eastern Europe*, 23(3), 170–183. https://doi.org/10.15458/85451.1286

- Burke, J., Polimeni, R., & Basile, A. (2020). Mandatory examinations or audits of quality control assurance systems: Certified public accountant. *The CPA Journal*, 90(3), 42–47. https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/mandatory-examinations-audits-quality-control/docview/2376136816/se-2?accountid=14872
- Bylen, S. (2020). Market of logistics services during the covid-19 pandemic. *European Research Studies*, 23, 47–61. https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/market-logistics-services-during-covid-19/docview/2534654448/se-2?accountid=14872
- Carcary, M. (2020). The research audit trail: Methodological guidance for application in practice. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 18(2), 166–177. http://doi.org/10.34190/JBRM.18.2.008
- Carnevale, F. A. (2016). Authentic qualitative research and the quest for methodological rigour. Canadian Journal of Nursing Research Archive, 34(2), 121–128. https://cjnr.archive.mcgill.ca/article/view/1768
- Chan, J., Yixing, G., & McGinley, S. (2021). Updates in service standards in hotels: How COVID-19 changed operations. *International Journal of Contemporary*Hospitality Management, 33(5), 1668–1687. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-09-2020-1013
- Chan, Z. C., Fung, Y. L., & Chien, W. T. (2013). Bracketing in phenomenology: Only undertaken in the data collection and analysis process? *The Qualitative Report 18*, (30), 1–9. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Chang, P., & Phan, T. T. N. (2018). Optimal manufacturing outsourcing decision based

- on the degree of manufacturing process standardization, 2018 5th International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Applications (ICIEA), pp. 49–53. https://doi.org/10.1109/IEA.2018.8387069.
- Clampit, J., Hasija, D., Dugan, M., & Gamble, J. (2021). The effect of risk, R&D intensity, liquidity, and inventory on firm performance during COVID-19:

 Evidence from US manufacturing industry. *Journal of Risk and Financial Management*, 14(10), 499-509. https://doi.org/10.3390/jrfm14100499
- Clandinin, D. J., & Connelly, F. M. (2013). Narrative, experience and the study of curriculum. Cambridge Journal of Education, 20, 241–253. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0335.1937.tb00002
- Clark, K., & Vealé, B. L. (2018). Strategies to enhance data collection and analysis in qualitative research. *Radiologic Technology*, 89(5), 482CT-485CT.

 https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=shib&db=rzh&A
 N=129386154&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Clark, M., & Bower, J. D. (2016). Career experiences of women with major financial barriers. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 64(4), 373–386. https://doi:10.1002/cdq.12072
- Cockburn, J., Cundill, G., Shackleton, S., & Rouget, M. (2019). The meaning and practice of stewardship in South Africa. South African Journal of Science, 115(5/6), 59–68. https://doi-org/10.17159/sajs.2019/5339
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *MEDSURG Nursing*, 25(6), 435–436. www.medsurgnursing.net/

- Cronin, C. (2014). Using case study research as a rigorous form of inquiry. *Nurse Researcher*, 21(5), 19–27. http://doi.org/10.7748/nr.21.5.19.e1240
- Crouch, R. C., Lu, V. N., Pourazad, N., & Chen, K. (2021). Investigating country image influences after a product-harm crisis. *European Journal of Marketing*, 55(3), 894-924. http://doi.org/10.1108/EJM-10-2018-0689
- Crowe, S., Creswell, K., Robertson, A., Huby, G., Avery, A., & Sheika, A. (2011). The case study approach. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 11, 100–110. https://doi.ort/10.1186/1471-2288-11-100
- Dachs, B., Kinkel, S., Jäger, A., & Palčič, I. (2019). Backshoring of production activities in European manufacturing. *Journal of Purchasing and Supply*Management, 25(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pursup.2019.02.003
- De Carvalho, S. (2019). The US antitrust jurisprudence through the lens of Chicago school and the transaction costs economics. *Juridical Tribune Journal = Tribuna Juridica*, 9, 93–109. https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/us-antitrust-jurisprudence-through-lens-chicago/docview/2394928364/se-2
- de Goede, E., Nel, J., & Neimann, W. (2018). Guiding buyer-supplier relationships through supply chain disruptions: A study of south African 3PLs and clients. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, 16(2), 113–133. https://doi.org./10.21511/ppm.16(2).2018.11

- Domínguez-Escrig, E., Fermín Mallén-Broch. Lapiedra-Alcamí, R., & Chiva-Gómez, R. (2019). The influence of leaders' stewardship behavior on innovation success:

 The mediating effect of radical innovation. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 159(3), 849–862. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-3833-2
- Donaldson, L., & Davis, J. H. (1991). Stewardship theory or agency theory: CEO governance and shareholder returns. *Australian Journal of Management*, 16, 49–64. https://doi.org/10.1177/0312896291016
- Dumay, J., La Torre, M., & Farneti, F. (2018). Developing trust through stewardship:

 Implications for intellectual capital, integrated reporting, and the EU Directive

 2014/95/EU. Journal of Intellectual Capital. https://doi.org/10.1108/jic-06-2018-0097
- Dutta, S., & Omolayole, O. (2021). Impact of vendor CMMI capability on user system success perception and its interaction with trust in an IT outsourcing project. *American Journal of Management*, 21(3), 105–119.

 https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/impact-vendor-cmmi-capability-on-user-system/docview/2556885289/se-2?accountid=14872
- El Hussein, M. T., Jakubec, S. L., & Osuji, J. (2016). The facts: A mnemonic for the rapid assessment of rigor in qualitative research studies. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 55(1), 60–67. https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20151214-15
- Elliott, V. (2018). Thinking about the coding process in qualitative data analysis. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(11), 2850–2860. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2018.3560 I

- Elms, N., & Nicholson, G. (2020). How director identification shapes accountability and scope of contribution. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, 33(8), 1815–1834. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/AAAJ-12-2019-4358
- Enis, Y., & Bayraktaroglu, A. G. (2021). Consumer reactions to product recalls: The effects of intentionality, reputation, and public apology on purchase intentions. *The Journal of Business Economics*, 91(4), 527–564.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11573-020-01011-y
- Fayezi, S., Stekelorum, R., Baz, J. E., & Laguir, I. (2020). Paradoxes in supplier's uptake of GSCM practices: Institutional drivers and buyer dependency: IMS. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, 31(3), 479–500.

 http://doi.org/10.1108/JMTM-05-2019-0171
- Figueiredo, J. (2021). The challenges of digital leadership. [Os Desafios de uma Liderança Digital] Revista De Administração Contemporânea, 25(4), 1–4,1A–4A. https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-7849rac2021210043.en
- FitzPatrick, B. (2019). Methodology matters: Validity in qualitative health education research. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 11(2), 211–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.11.014
- Foldy, B. (2019, Dec 05). Business news: Over a million cars to be recalled over new air-bag problem. Wall Street

 Journal https://www.proquest.com/newspapers/business-news-over-million-cars-be-recalled-new/docview/2321309260/se-2?accountid=14872
- Forcinio, H. (2018). Selecting primary packaging for parenterals. Pharmaceutical

- Technology Europe, 30(7), 35–37. https://alfresco-static-files.s3.amazonaws.com/alfresco_images/pharma/2018/10/11/0592
- Franco, M., & Antunes, A. (2020). Understanding servant leadership dimensions:

 Theoretical and empirical extensions in the Portuguese context. *Nankai Business Review International*, 11(3), 345–369. http://doi.org/10.1108/NBRI-08-2019-0038
- Francois, M. (2021). Insights from transaction cost economics for government organizations: An application to the U.S. Department of Defense (DoD). *Atlantic Economic Journal*, 49(1), 109–111. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11293-021-09705-6
- Free, C., & Hecimovic, A. (2021). Global supply chains after COVID-19: The end of the road for neoliberal globalisation? *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability*Journal, 34(1), 58-84. http://doi.org/10.1108/AAAJ-06-2020-4634
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1408–1416. https://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR20/9/fusch1.pdf
- Gaia, S., & Jones, M. J. (2020). Biodiversity reporting for governmental organisations: Evidence from English local councils. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, 33(1), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1108/AAAJ-05-2018-3472
- Ganesan, V., Mishra, S., & Duffy, M. (2022). Relationship goals. *Quality Progress*, 55, 22-29. https://www.proquest.com/magazines/relationship-goals/docview/2668443551/se-2?accountid=14872
- Gawankar, S., Gunasekaran, A., & Kamble, S. (2020). A study on investments in the big

- data-driven supply chain, performance measures and organisational performance in Indian retail 4.0 context. *International Journal of Production Research*, 58(5), 1574–1593. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2019.1668070
- Gehman, J., Glaser, V. L., Eisenhardt, K. M., Gioia, D., Langley, A., & Corley, K. G. (2018). Finding theory-method fit: A comparison of three qualitative approaches to theory building. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 27(3), 284–300. https://doi.org/10.1177/1056492617706029
- Goodrich, K. M., Hrovat, A., & Luke, M. (2014). Professional identity, practice, and development of Kenya teacher-counsellors: An ethnography. *Journal of Counselor Leadership and Advocacy*, 1, 44–66.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/2326716X.2014.886976
- Gossler, T., Wakolbinger, T., & Burkart, C. (2020). Outsourcing in humanitarian logistics

 status quo and future directions. *International Journal of Physical Distribution*& Logistics Management, 50(4), 403-438. http://doi.org/10.1108/IJPDLM-12
 2018-0400
- Graham, G., Burns, L., Hennelly, P., & Meriton, R. (2019). Electric sports cars and their impact on the component sourcing process. *Business Process Management Journal*, 25(3), 438–455. https://doi.org./10.1108/BPMJ-11-2017-0335
- Gray, J. V., & Handley, S. M. (2015). Managing contract manufacturer quality in the presence of performance ambiguity. *Journal of Operations Management*. 38, 41–45. http://doi/org/10.1016/j.jom.2015.08.002
- Grenzfurtner, W., & Gronalt, M. (2021). Developing a continuous improvement

- perspective for subcontractor involvement in the industrialised housebuilding supply chain. *Supply Chain Management*, 26(2), 174–191. https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-12-2019-0435
- Gruszka, J. (2021). Technological quality of suppliers in the automotive industry: A case study. European Research Studies, 24, 449–458.

 https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/technological-quality-suppliers-automotive/docview/2639713544/se-2?accountid=14872
- Gunasekaran, A., Irani, Z., Choy, K., Filippi, L., & Papadopoulos, T. (2015).

 Performance measures and metrics in outsourcing decisions: A review for research and applications. *International Journal of Production Economics*. 161, 153–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/jipe.2014.12.021
- Hakansson, H., & Axelsson, B. (2020). What is so special with outsourcing in the public sector? The Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing, 35(12), 2011–2021. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-06-2019-0280
- Hand, M. (2020). Autonomy, practical rationality and being at one with oneself: A reply to Wendelborn, *Oxford Review of Education*, 46(6), 672–677. https://doi.org/10.1080/03054985.2020.1842185
- Harrison, V. (2019). "It's a delicate dance": Understanding CSR relationships from the nonprofit perspective. *Journal of Communication Management*, 23(2), 142–158. http://doi.org/10.1108/JCOM-10-2018-0100
- Hashimov, E. (2015). Qualitative data analysis: A methods sourcebook and the coding manual for qualitative researchers. *Technical Communication Quarterly*, 24(1),

- 109–112. https://doi.org/10.1080/10572252.2015.975966
- Hedvičáková, M., & Kráľ, M. (2021). Performance evaluation framework under the influence of industry 4.0: The case of the Czech manufacturing industry. E+M

 Ekonomie a Management, 24(1), 118–134. https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/performance-evaluation-framework-under-influence/docview/2515779894/se-2?accountid=14872
- Hovell, M. F., Bellettiere, J., Liles, S., Nguyen, B., Berardi, V., Johnson, C., Matt, G. E.,
 Malone, J., Boman-Davis, M., Quintana, P. J. E., Obayashi, S., Chatfield, D.,
 Robinson, R., Blumberg, E. J., Ongkeko, W. M., Klepeis, N. E., & Hughes, S. C.
 (2020). Randomised controlled trial of real-time feedback and brief coaching to
 reduce indoor smoking. *Tobacco Control*, 29(2), 183–194.
 http://doi.org/10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2018-054717
- Iivari, N. (2018). Using member checking in interpretive research practice. *Information Technology & People*, 31(1), 111–133. http://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-07-2016-0168
- Irfan, M., Wang, M., & Akhtar, N. (2020). Enabling supply chain agility through process integration and supply flexibility: Evidence from the fashion industry. *Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics*, 32(2), 519–547.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/APJML-03-2019-0122
- Jackson, E. A. (2018). Triangulation. African Journal of Economic and Management Studies, 9(2), 266–271. http://doi.org/10.1108/AJEMS-01-2018-0034
- Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, S. P. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews: Tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. *Qualitative*

- Report, 17, 1-10. http://tqr.nova.edu/
- Jean Robert, K. K., Ransome, E. B., & Aurel Edith, T. T. (2020). An ERP success model based on agency theory and IS success model: The case of a banking institution in Africa. Business Process Management Journal, 26(6), 1577–1597.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/BPMJ-04-2018-0113
- Jensen, M. C., & Meckling, W. H. (1976). Theory of the firm: Managerial behavior, agency costs, and ownership structure. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 3, 305–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-405x (76)90026-x
- Jha, P. C., Aggarwal, R., & Singh, S. P. (2020). Studying the interrelationship between third party logistic service provider enablers using ISM methodology. *Journal of Modelling in Management*, 15(1), 182–200. https://doi.org/10.1108/JM2-09-2018-0132
- Jiraporn, P., Uyar, A., Kuzey, C., & Kilic, M. (2020). What drives board committee structure? Evidence from an emerging market. *Managerial Auditing Journal*, 35(3), 373–397. http://doi.org/10.1108/MAJ-11-2018-2079
- Jones, W. (2018). Applying lean six sigma at acutec precision aerospace. *Journal of Information Technology and Economic Development*, 9(2), 12–20. <a href="https://gsmi-

- ijgb.com/wp-content/uploads/JITED-V9-N2-P02-William-Jones-Lean-Six-Sigma.pdf
- Juvekar, A., & Parekh, B. (2021). A comparative study of vendor selection process in global outsourcing industry with an elucidated scientific approach. *Turkish Journal of Computer and Mathematics Education*, 12(10), 4136–4152.

 https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/comparative-study-vendor-selection-process-global/docview/2628340692/se-2
- Kachoui, D. (2018). Becoming a master. *Quality Progress*, 51, 38–43.

 https://www.proquest.com/magazines/becoming-master/docview/2057274887/se-2?accountid=14872
- Kaman, V. S. (1995). Ethnography and qualitative design in educational research (2nd ed.). *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 6(1), 109–114. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrdq.3920060110
- Kapur, R. (2022). The significance of reward management in organizations. *International Journal of Information, Business and Management, 14*(2), 83–92. https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/significance-reward-management-organizations/docview/2624993608/se-2?accountid=14872
- Karagiozis, N. (2018). The complexities of the researcher's role in qualitative research:

 The power of reflexivity. *International Journal of Interdisciplinary Educational Studies*, 13(1), 19–31. https://doi.org/10.18848/2327-011X/CGP/v13i01/19-31

 Kareem Alzubaidi, F. (2021). Impact of corporate social responsibility on sustainability

- of Jordanian sme's: Mediating role of corporate governance. *International Journal of Entrepreneurship*, 25, 1–11. https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/impact-corporate-social-responsibility-on/docview/2563846991/se-2?accountid=14872
- Kaufmann, M., & Tzanetakis, M. (2020). Doing Internet research with hard-to-reach communities: Methodological reflections on gaining meaningful access. *Qualitative Research*, 20(6), 927–944.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794120904898
- Kgobe, F. K. L., & Mamokhere, J. (2021). Interrogating the effectiveness of public accountability mechanisms in South Africa: Can good governance be realized?

 International Journal of Entrepreneurship, 25, 1–2.

 https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/interrogating-effectiveness-public-accountability/docview/2603245708/se-2?accountid=14872
- Khan, S. J., Khan, R. A., & Alam, S. (2019). Impact of outsourcing on successful completion of projects in construction sector of Karachi. *Global Management Journal for Academic & Corporate Studies*, 9(1), 73–85.
- Korstjen, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1),

 120–124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Kossonou, K., & McMurtrey, M. (2021). Supply chain management and offshoring in the US. American Journal of Management, 21(3), 62–70. https://doi.org/10.33423/ajm.v21i3.4362

- Krishnan, L. R. K. (2021). Impact on employee morale and job satisfaction: a case study of telecom industry network outsourcing. *Journal of the International Academy for Case Studies*, 27(1), 1-8. https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/impact-on-employee-morale-job-satisfaction-case/docview/2519924648/se-2?accountid=14872
- Laws, K., & McLeod, R. (2004). Case study and grounded theory: Sharing some alternative qualitative research methodologies with systems professionals. In M. Kennedy, G. Winch, R. Langer, J. Rowe, & J. Yanni (Eds.), Proceedings of the 22nd international conference of the systems (vol.78; pp.1–25). Systems Dynamics Society. http://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-04-2018-0225
- Li, Y., Liu, B., Chen, P., & Tzung-Cheng, H. (2021). Tourism service providers' physical attractiveness and customers' service quality evaluation: Is warmth or competence more important? *Tourism Review of AIEST International Association of Scientific Experts in Tourism*, 76(6), 1260–1278. https://doi.org/10.1108/TR-05-2020-0241
- Li, Y., Zhang, N., & Siponen, M. (2019). Keeping secure to the end: A long-term perspective to understand employees' consequence-delayed information security violation. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 38(5), 435–453. https://doi-org./10.1080/0144929X.2018.1539519
- Li, Z. (2021). Exploring the role of organizational slack in the COVID-19 pandemic: An empirical study of the manufacturing industry. *Corporate Governance*, 21(6), 996–1010. https://doi.org/10.1108/CG-09-2020-0401

- Linnenluecke, M. K., Marrone, M., & Singh, A. K. (2020). Conducting systematic literature reviews and bibliometric analyses. *Australian Journal of Management*, 45(2), 175–194. https://doi.org/10.1177/0312896219877678
- Ljungkvist, T., & Boers, B. (2020). The founder's psychological ownership and its strategic implications. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise*Development, 27(1), 85–102. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSBED-12-2018-038
- Lobel Trong, T. T., Ho Thi, V. H., & Baker, J. (2021). When supportive workplaces positively help work performance. *Baltic Journal of Management*, 16(2), 208–227. https://doi.org/10.1108/BJM-06-2020-0220
- Lutfun, N. L. (2021). Negotiating gatekeepers and positionality in building trust for accessing the urban poor in the global south. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 21(1), 76–86. https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-03-2020-0017
- Ma, T., Wang, Z., Skibniewski, M. J., Ding, J., Wang, G., & He, Q. (2021). Investigating stewardship behavior in megaprojects: An exploratory analysis. *Engineering*, Construction and Architectural Management, 28(9), 2570–2591.
 http://doi.org/10.1108/ECAM-07-2020-0479
- Macide Berna Çağlar, K., & Kenan, A. (2020). The role of 4PL provider as a mediation and supply chain agility. *Modern Supply Chain Research and Applications*, 2(2), 99–111. http://doi.org/10.1108/MSCRA-09-2019-0019
- Maitiniyazi, S., & Canavari, M. (2021). Understanding Chinese consumers' safety perceptions of dairy products: A qualitative study. *British Food Journal*, 123(5), 1837–1852. https://doi.org/10.1108/BFJ-04-2019-0252

- Manning, J. (2016). Constructing a postcolonial feminist ethnography. *Journal of Organizational Ethnography*, 5(2), 90–105. https://doi.org/10.1108%2Fjoe-01-2016-0002
- Marashdeh, Z., Saidat, Z., Alkhodary, D., & Al-Haddad, L. (2021). Agency theory and the Jordanian corporate environment: Why a single theory is not enough. *Academy of Accounting and Financial Studies Journal*, 25(5), 1–15. https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/agency-theory-jordanian-corporate-environment-why/docview/2562936190/se-2?accountid=14872
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). Designing qualitative research (6th ed.). Sage.
- Martin, C., Carlos, M., Omera, K., & Oznur, Y. (2011). Approaches to managing global sourcing risk. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 16, 67–81. http://doi:10.1108/135598541111115338
- Matilde, C., Neves, P., Afonso, O., & Elena, S. (2021). The effects of offshoring on wages: A meta-analysis. *Review of World Economics*, 157(1), 149–179. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10290-020-00385-z
- Mir, S., Fugate, B., Johnson, J., & Blessley, M. (2021). What should you be talking about? the communication pathway to sustainable supply chain contagion.
 [Pathway to sustainable supply chain contagion] *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 51(7), 711–737.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPDLM-12-2019-0364
- Miranda, R., Naomi, H., Tine, V. R., & Schalk, R. (2020). The importance of selfmastery in enhancing quality of life and social participation of individuals

- experiencing homelessness: Results of a mixed-method study. *Social Indicators*Research, 148(2), 491–515. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-019-02211-y
- Moeke-Maxwell, T., Wiles, J., Black, S., Williams, L., & Gott, M. (2018). Collaborative story production with bereaved family careers of people who died in advanced age. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 18(4), 302–315.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-D-17-00045
- Moon, D., & Tonsor, G. T. (2020). How do E. coli. recalls impact cattle and beef prices? *Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics*, 45(1), 92–106. http://doi.org/10.22004/ag.econ.298436
- Morse, J. (2015). Analytical strategies and sample size. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25. 1317–1318. http://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315602867
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenology research method.: Sage.
- Mukoka, S., Tshuma, E., & Tshababa, M. (2021a). Research approaches and sampling methods paradox: The beginning of marginal thinking in research methodology. *International Journal of Information, Business and Management*, 13(3), 60–63. https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/research-approaches-sampling-methods-paradox/docview/2521667669/se-2?accountid=14872
- Mukoka, S., Tshuma, E., & Tshababa, M. (2021b). Use of research questions and hypotheses on mixed methods approach: An analysis with special reference to research designs. *International Journal of Information, Business and Management*, 13(3), 1-5 https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/use-

- research-questions-hypothesis-on-mixed/docview/2521667160/se-2?accountid=14872
- Muralidharan, E., Bapuji, H., & Hora, M. (2019). The more I err, the less I pay: Effect of firm recall experience, firm type and recall severity on remedy to consumers. *European Journal of Marketing*, 53(5), 916–943. https://doi-org./10.1108/EJM-12-2017-0964
- Naidu, T., & Prose, N. (2018). Re-envisioning member checking and communicating results as accountability practice in qualitative research: A South African community-based organization example. Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 19(3). https://doi-org/10.17169/fqs-19.3.3153
- Naji, A., Oumami, M. E., Bouksour, O., & Beidouri, Z. (2020). A mixed methods research toward a framework of a maintenance management model: A survey in moroccan industries. *Journal of Quality in Maintenance Engineering*, 26(2), 260–289. http://doi.org/10.1108/JQME-10-2018-0079
- Nassar, S., Kandil, T., Kara, M., & Ghadge, A. (2020). Automotive recall risk: Impact of buyer–supplier relationship on supply chain social sustainability. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 69(3), 467-487. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-01-2019-0026
- National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. (2016). U.S. Department of transportation expands and accelerates Takata air bag inflator recall to protect American drivers and passengers. https://one.nhtsa.gov/About-NHTSA/Press-Releases/nhtsa_expands_accelerates_takata_inflator_recall_05042016

- Negara, S. D., & Hidayat, A. S. (2021). Indonesia's automotive industry: Recent trends and challenges. *Journal of Southeast Asian Economies*, 38(2), 166–186. http://dx.doi.org/10.1355/ae38-2b
- Nguyen, H., Onofrei, G., & Truong, D. (2021). Supply chain communication and cultural compatibility: Performance implications in the global manufacturing industry.

 [Supply chain communication and cultural compatibility] *Business Process*Management Journal, 27(1), 253–274. https://doi.org/10.1108/BPMJ-08-2019-0314
- Nikfarid, L., Rassouli, M., Farahani, A. S., Beykmirza, R., & Khoshnazar, T. A. K.
 (2020). Perspectives of Afghan refugee mothers on the experience of caring for a child with cancer: A qualitative analysis. *Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal*, 26(6), 680–686. http://doi.org/10.26719/cmhj.19.055
- Nishimura, A., Carey, J., Erwin, P. J., Tilburt, J. C., Murad, M. H., & McCormick, J. B. (2013). Improving understanding in the research informed consent process: A systematic review of 54 interventions tested in randomized control trials. *BMC Medical Ethics*, 14, 28–32. https://doi-org/10.1186/1472-6939-14-28
- Niven, C., Mathews, B., & Vallmuur, K. (2022). Applying a public health approach to identify priorities for regulating child product safety. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 46(2), 142–148. http://doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.13212
- Obermann, J., Velte, P., Gerwanski, J., & Kordsachia, O. (2020). Mutualistic symbiosis?

 Combining theories of agency and stewardship through behavioral

- characteristics. Management Research Review, 43(8), 989–1011. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/MRR-07-2019-0317
- Oduro, S., Kwamena, M. N., & Gbadeyan, R. A. (2020). Supplier relationship management and organizational performance of hospitals in an emerging economy context: A comparative study. *Journal of Modelling in Management*, 15(4), 1451–1478. https://doi.org/10.1108/JM2-03-2019-0072
- Osman, I., Mohsin, A. R., Sajid Mohy, U. D., Shams, G., & Aziz, K. (2022). Let's get acquainted: An empirical study on takaful customer-service provider relationships from Saudi Arabian perspectives. *Journal of Islamic Marketing*, 13(11), 2209-2231. https://doi.org/10.1108/JIMA-06-2020-0175
- Osro, Z., Lumbanraja, P., Raha Agoes Salim, S., & Absah, Y. (2018). The analysis of personality and work ability on the performance of outsourcing employees with work motivation as intervening variable at Pt Inalum (Persero) in Kuala Tanjung. Academic Journal of Economic Studies, 4(2), 90–104.

 https://doi.org/10.2991%2Febic-17.2018.58
- O'Sullivan, T., & Tokeley, K. (2018). Consumer product failure causing personal injury under the no-fault accident compensation scheme in New Zealand—a let-off for manufacturers? *Journal of Consumer Policy*, 1-17.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10603-018
- Öznacar, B., Kan, Ş. G., & Şensoy, Ş. (2018). An evaluation of positive psychological state of educational administrators in a tolerance context. *Quality and Quantity*, 52(2), 1093–1104. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0559-7

- Paharia, P. (2019). Stakeholder orientation of ethical leadership: A qualitative study.

 OPUS: HR Journal, 10(2), 1–20.

 https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=shib&db=bth&A

 N=143263825&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Palumbo, R. (2020). Let me go to the office! An investigation into the side effects of working from home on work-life balance. *The International Journal of Public Sector Management*, 33(6), 771–790. http://doi.org/10.1108/IJPSM-06-2020-0150
- Panda, D. K. (2020). The dynamics of business ecosystem identity: An ethnographic study on an Indian microenterprise clusters. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management*, 15(3), 235–256. http://doi.org/10.1108/QROM-10-2018-1688
- Patro, P., Ahmad, R., Yaqoob, I., Salah, K., & Jayaraman, R. (2021). Block chain-based solution for product recall management in the automotive supply chain. *IEEE Access*, 9, 167756–167775. https://doi:10.1109/ACCESS.2021.3137307.
- Paul, S., & Chowdhury, P. (2020). A production recovery plan in manufacturing supply chains for a high-demand item during COVID-19. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 51(2), 104–125. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPDLM-04-2020-0127
- Perunovic, Z., Christoffersen, M., & Mefford, R. N. (2012). Deployment of vendor capabilities and competences throughout the outsourcing process. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 32(3), 351–374. https://doi.org/10.1108/01443571211212619

- Peu, M., Mulaudzi, F., Rikhotso, S., Ngunyulu, R., & Rasweswe, M. (2021). Reflections on accessing indigenous research settings: Encounters with traditional health practitioners and leaders in Vhembe district, South Africa. *Culture & Psychology*, 27(2), 227–242. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354067X20971249
- Pietenpol, L. (2019). Recall roulette. *Quality Progress*, 52, 6-7.

 https://www.proquest.com/magazines/recall-roulette/docview/2287022255/se-2?accountid=14872
- Pinnegar, S., & Daynes, J. G. (2007). Locating narrative inquiry historically: Thematics in the turn to narrative. In D.J. Clandinin (Ed.) Handbook of narrative inquiry:

 Mapping a methodology (pp.3–75). Sage.

 https://doi.org/10.4135/9781452226552.n1
- Poberschnigg, T., Pimenta, M., & Hilletofth, P. (2020). How can cross-functional integration support the development of resilience capabilities? The case of collaboration in the automotive industry. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 25(6), 789–801. https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-10-2019-0390
- Prajapati, H., Kant, R., & Sandeep, M. (2020). An integrated framework for prioritizing the outsourcing performance outcomes. *Journal of Global Operations and Strategic Sourcing*, 13(4), 301–325. http://doi.org/10.1108/JGOSS-06-2019-0047
- Price, D., Edwards, M., Carson-Stevens, A., Cooper, A., Davies, F., Evans, B., Hibbert, P., Hughes, T., Rainer, T., Siriwardena, N., & Edwards, A. (2020). Challenges of recruiting emergency department patients to a qualitative study: A thematic

- analysis of researchers' experiences. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 20(1), 1–10. https://doi-org./10.1186/s12874-020-01039-2
- Rahman, I. K. A., Hussain, M. D., & Hossin, M. S. (2019). Microfinance governance: A multitheoretical approach for ascertaining the wider stakeholder influencing forces. *Asian Academy of Management Journal*, 24, 203–216. https://doiorg/10.21315/aamj2019.24.s1.14
- Raithel, S., Mafael, A., & Hock, S. J. (2021). The effects of brand equity and failure severity on remedy choice after a product recall. *The Journal of Product and Brand Management*, 30(8), 1247–1261. http://doi.org/10.1108/JPBM-02-2020-2741
- Rennie, D. L. (2012). Qualitative research as methodical hermeneutics. *Psychological Methods*, 17, 385–398. https://doi:10.1037/a0029250
- Renz, S. M., Carrington, J. M., & Badger, T. A. (2018). Two strategies for qualitative content analysis: An intramethod approach to triangulation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(5), 824–831. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317753586
- Ribeiro, S., Schmitz, E., da Silva, M., & de Alencar, A. (2021). A dynamic job shop model for scheduling tasks in a software development environment. *Journal of Information Systems and Technology Management: JISTEM*, 18, 1–22. http://doi.org/10.4301/S1807-1775202118001
- Rosin, A. F., Stubner, S., Chaurasia, S. S., & Verma, S. (2019). Outsourcing, information symmetry and governance: The effects of retailers' formal and informal controls on manufacturers' outsourcing performance. *Journal of Enterprise Information*

- Management, 32(6), 993-1014. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEIM-06-2018-0124
- Rouf, M. A., & Hossan, M. A. (2020). The effects of board size and board composition on CSR disclosure: a study of banking sectors in Bangladesh. *International Journal of Ethics and Systems*, 37(1), 105–121. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOES-06-2020-0079
- Ruderman, M. N., & Clerkin, C. (2020). Is the future of leadership development wearable? Exploring self-tracking in leadership programs. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 13(1), 103–116. https://doi.org/10.1017/iop.2020.18
- Ruoxuan, L., Meilin, Y., Hongrui, L., & Chen, Y. (2020). Chinese parental involvement and adolescent learning motivation and subjective well-being: More is not always better. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 21(7), 2527–2555.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-019-00192-w
- Sahasranamam, S., Arya, B., & Sud, M. (2020). Ownership structure and corporate social responsibility in an emerging market. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*, 37(4), 1165–1192. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10490-019-09649-1
- Sakuramoto, C., Di Serio, L. C., & de Vicente Bittar, A. (2019). Impact of supply chain on the competitiveness of the automotive industry. *RAUSP Management Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1108/rausp-07-2018-0051
- Sánchez-Jerónimo, P., Silva-Cerón, M., López-López, M., Hernández-Morales, V., & Gochicoa-Rangel, La. (2022). Implementation of an integrated total quality management system in a pulmonary function laboratory. *Quality Management in Health Care*, 31(2), 74–79. http://doi.org/10.1097/QMH.00000000000000333

- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., Burroughs, H., & Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: Exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & Quantity*, 52, 1893–1907. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8
- Saura, D. M., & Balsas, P. R. (2014). Interviewing and surveying over the phone: A reflexive account of research on parenting. *Quality & Quantity*, 48, 2615–2630. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-013-9911-8
- Schillemans, T., & Bjurstrøm, K. H. (2020). Trust and verification: Balancing agency and stewardship theory in the governance of agencies. *International Public Management Journal*, 23(5), 650–676.
- Schmidthuber, L., & Hilgers, D. (2019). From fellowship to stewardship? Explaining extra-role behavior of volunteer firefighters. *Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary & Nonprofit Organizations*, 30(1), 175–192. https://doi-org.10.1007/s11266-018-0035-6
- Schniederjans, D., & Khalajhedayati, M. (2021). Product recall strategy in the supply chain: Utility and culture. *The International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*, 38(1), 195–212. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJQRM-03-2019-0077
- Seva, R. R., Tejero, L. M. S., & Vivien Fe, F. F. (2021). Barriers and facilitators of productivity while working from home during pandemic. *Journal of Occupational Health*, 63(1). http://doi.org/10.1002/1348-9585.12242
- Shah, A. M., Mahmood, A., Saleem, S., Ahmad, N., Muhammad, S. S., & Molnár, E. (2021). Proposing stewardship theory as an alternate to explain the relationship

- between CSR and employees' pro-environmental behavior. *Sustainability*, 13(15), 8558. http://doi.org/10.3390/su13158558
- Shaiq, M., & Hassan, M. (2019). Factors affecting growth of logistics outsourcing: A perspective of third-party logistics providers in Pakistan. *Journal of Business Strategies*, 13(1), 143–157.

 https://doi.org/10.29270%2Fjbs.13.1%282019%29.080
- Shobod, D. N., Eweje, G., & Sajjad, A. (2020). The hidden side of sub-supplier firms' sustainability an empirical analysis. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 40(12), 1771–1799. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-05-2019-0403
- Simon, A., Scheidl, H., Campos, R., & Matana, G. (2021). Performance management in logistics outsourcing: a study on sugar-energy industry. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 70(7), 1772-1792.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-05-2019-0216
- Simon, M. K. (2011). Dissertation and scholarly research: A practical guide to start and complete your dissertation, thesis, or formal research project (3rd ed.).

 Dissertation Success.
- Simon, M. K., & Goes, J. (2013). Dissertation and scholarly research: Recipes for success: Dissertation Success LLC.
- Singh, A., Jenamani, M., & Thakkar, J. (2020). Do online consumer reviews help to evaluate the performance of automobile manufacturers? *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 33(5), 1153–1198. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEIM-09-

2019-0292

- Singh, B., & Amit, A. T. (2020). Customer stewardship behavior and stewardship fatigue: A conceptual framework. *Marketing Intelligence & Planning*, 38(3), 386–399. https://doi.org/10.1108/MIP-02-2019-0071
- Smith, P. R. (2018). Collecting sufficient evidence when conducting a case study. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(5), 1043–1048. https://doi.org/10.46743%2F2160-3715%2F2018.3188
- Soundararajan, V., Brown, J. A., & Wicks, A. C. (2019). Can multi-stakeholder initiatives improve global supply chains? improving deliberative capacity with a stakeholder orientation. *Business Ethics Quarterly*, 29(3), 385–412. http://doi.org./10.1017/beq.2018.38
- Spiers, J., Morse, J. M., Olson, K., Mayan, M., & Barrett, M. (2018). Reflection commentary on a past article: "Verification strategies for establishing reliability and validity in qualitative research." *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17(1), 1–2. http://doi:10.1177/1609406918788237
- Sugita, I. W., Setini, M., & Anshori, Y. (2021). Counter hegemony of cultural art innovation against art in digital media. *Journal of Open Innovation*, 7(2), 147–150. http://doi.org/10.3390/joitmc7020147
- Suri, H. (2011). Purposeful sampling in qualitative research synthesis. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 11, 63–75. http://doi.org/10.3316/QRJ1102063
- Tauquer, M. A., & Bang, K. E. (2019). Outsourcing business activities: A decision tree for systematic evaluation. Proceedings of the *International Conference on*

- Industrial Engineering and Operations Management Pilsen, July 23–26, 2019.

 https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Muhammad-Tauqeer-4/publication/335106635
- Taylor, G. (2021). Amazon recalls 15,000 mattresses over fire hazard risk. *Sourcing Journal (Online)*, https://www.proquest.com/trade-journals/amazon-recalls-15-000-mattresses-over-fire-hazard/docview/2599271753/se-2?accountid=14872
- Thomas, D. R. (2017). Feedback from research participants: Are member checks useful in qualitative research? *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 14(1), 23–41. https://doi-org./10.1080/14780887.2016.1219435
- Thomas, F. (2021). Developing a method for success through partnerships: Outsourcing method development offers multiple benefits to companies, including access to experience and expertise, streamlined costs, and development time efficiencies. *Pharmaceutical Technology Europe*, 33(6), 36–38. https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=shib&db=bt h&AN=150882296&site=ehost-live&scope=site.
- Till, R. E., & Yount, M. B. (2018). Governance and incentives: Is it really all about the money? *Journal of Business Ethics*, 1–14. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-3778-5
- Tipuric, D., Cindric, L., & Hruška, D. (2021). Multiple identification in global voluntary organization: how do members relate to rotary? *Academy of Strategic*Management Journal, 20(4), 1–10. https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/multiple-identification-global-voluntary/docview/2568313519/se-

2?accountid=14872

- Tomaszewski, L. E., Zarestky, J., & Gonzalez, E. (2020). Planning qualitative research:

 Design and decision making for new researchers. *International Journal of*Qualitative Methods, 19. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920967174
- Torfing, J., & Bentzen, T. Ø. (2020). Does stewardship theory provide a viable alternative to control-fixated performance management? *Administrative Sciences*, 10(4), 86–90. https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci10040086
- Truong, D., Rose, X. L., & Jing (Jasper), Yu. (2020). Mixed methods research in tourism and hospitality journals. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality*Management, 32(4), 1563-1579. http://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-03-2019-0286
- Ulewicz, R. (2018). Outsourcing quality control in the automotive industry. *MATEC Web of Conferences*, 183, 03001. https://doi/10.1051/matecconf/201818303001
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2015). The Belmont Report. http://www.HHS.gov
- Vaitoonkiat, E., & Charoensukmongkol, P. (2020). Stakeholder orientation's contribution to firm performance: The moderating effect of perceived market uncertainty. *Management Research Review*, 43(7), 863–883. https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-07-2019-0296
- Venkatesh, V. G., Zhang, A., Deakins, E., & Mani, V. (2020). Drivers of sub-supplier social sustainability compliance: An emerging economy perspective. Supply Chain Management, 25(6), 655–677. https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-07-2019-0251
- Verleye, K. (2019). Designing, writing-up and reviewing case study research: An

- equifinality perspective. *Journal of Service Management*, 30(5), 549–576. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOSM-08-2019-0257
- Vijaykar, S., Gupta, M., & Bhaumik, P. K. (2021). Conflict resolution in a multi-level IT-enabled outsourcing network: A structured solution approach conflict resolution in a multi-level IT-enabled outsourcing network: A structured solution approach. *Journal of International Technology and Information*Management, 30(1), 134–169,134A. https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/conflict-resolution-multi-level-enabled/docview/2541923256/se-2?accountid=14872
- Vyas, L., Hayllar, M., & Wu, Y. (2018). Bridging the gap contractor and bureaucrat conceptions of contract management in outsourcing. *Public Organization*Review, 18(4), 413–439. https://doi.org./10.1007/s11115-017-0385-3
- Waheed, A., & Qaisar, A. M. (2019). Board characteristics, ownership concentration and firms' performance. South Asian Journal of Business Studies, 8(2), 146–165. https://doi.org/10.1108/SAJBS-03-2018-0031
- Wang, S., Song, H., & Gong, C. (2021). Reliability improvement incentive strategies in the manufacturing industry. *TQM Journal*, 33(8), 1886–1909. https://doi.org/10.1108/TQM-12-2020-0290
- Wei, S., Muhammad, S. S., Comite, U., Phung, A. T., Badulescu, D., & Popp, J. (2021).

 An examination to explain the mechanism of employees' environment-specific behavior through CSR and work engagement from the perspective of stewardship theory. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public*

- Health, 18(17), 9370. http://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18179370
- Westerlund, M., Nene, S., Leminen, S., & Rajahonka, M. (2021). An exploration of block chain-based traceability in food supply chains: On the benefits of distributed digital records from farm to fork. *Technology Innovation Management**Review, 11(6), 6–18. https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/exploration-blockchain-based-traceability-food/docview/2557405841/se-2
- Williams, M., & Moser, T. (2019). The art of coding and thematic exploration in qualitative research. *International Management Review*, 15(1), 45-55,71–72. http://www.imrjournal.org/uploads/1/4/2/8/14286482/imr-v15n1art4.pdf
- Williamson, O. E. (1979). Markets and hierarchies: Analysis and antitrust implications.

 The Free Press. https://doi.org/10.2307/2392191
- Wilson, E., Kenny, A., & Dickson-Swift, V. (2018). Ethical challenges in community-based participatory research: A scoping review. *Qualitative Health**Research*, 28(2), 189–199. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317690721
- Yean, T. (2021). Southeast Asia's automotive sector at crossroads: Current changes and future challenges-introduction. *Journal of Southeast Asian Economies*, 38(2), 161–165. http://doi.org/10.1355/ae38-2a
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications: Design and methods (8th ed.). Sage.
- Yoon, B., & Uliassi, C. (2022). "Researcher-as-instrument" in qualitative research: The complexities of the educational researcher's identities. *The Qualitative**Report, 27(4), 1088–1102. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2022.5074

- Yuksel, P., & Yildirim, S. (2015). Theoretical frameworks, methods, and procedures for conducting phenomenological studies in educational settings. *Turkish Online Journal of Qualitative Inquiry*, 6(1), 1–20.

 https://doi.org/10.17569%2Ftojqi.59813
- Zamfir, A., Ionescu, S., & Niculescu, A. (2017). Outsourcing in the business processes.

 FAIMA Business & Management Journal, 5(2), 73-79.

 http://www.faimajournal.ro/full_issue/15.%20INTERIOR%20Revista%20FAIMA%20Vol%205%20-%20Issue%202%20[June%202017].pdf#page=73
- Zhao, J., Gerasimova, K., Peng, Y., & Sheng, J. (2020). Information asymmetry, third party certification and the integration of organic food value chain in china. *China Agricultural Economic Review*, 12(1), 20–38. https://doi.org/10.1108/CAER-05-2018-0111
- Zulfiqar, M., Yousaf, M. U., Islam, M. R., & Ghafoor, S. (2021). Family firms propensity to lean innovation in the emerging economy: A moderating role of executive's compensation. *Journal of Family Business Management*, 11(1), 32–50. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFBM-11-2018-0057

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Date of Interview Interview Identification Number

Thank you for participating in my study Strategies for Minimizing Defects in Outsourced Products. Confirm that I have received the email response "I consent" from the participant, remind of confidentiality, remind participant may rescind from interview, a summary of interview will be available.

Purpose of Study

The general business problem is leaders often outsource products to the manufacturing industry that do not have identifiable quality strategies for minimizing product defects. The specific business problem is leaders of organizations fabricating parts lack strategies for identifying defects in products before fulfilling customers' orders to the automotive industry. The purpose of this single qualitative case study is to explore strategies leaders of organizations fabricating parts use for identifying defects in products before fulfilling customers' orders to the automotive industry.

Interview process

I will conduct this virtual interview asking ten open ended questions. Please speak freely and openly. Your answers need to be truthful. I will take notes and record the interview, with your permission.

Interview Questions:

- 1. As a business leader, describe your relationship with entities outsourced to.
- 2. What strategies do you use to minimize product defects?
- 3. What strategies do you use to oversee organizations providing products/services to your organization?
- 4. How often are your quality practices and procedures reviewed/audited?
- 5. What risk management practices do you use to prevent defects in products?
- 6. What processes and or procedures do you use to elicit feedback from customers regarding defects in products?
- 7. What strategies do you use to address product defects?
- 8. What strategies do you use to ensure proper relationships with customers for addressing defects?

- 9. What is your organization's lessons learned strategy on defective products?
- 10. What else would you like to tell me about strategies you use to identify defects in products before fulfilling customers' orders?

End of the Interview

I will thank the participant for allowing me to interview them and assisting with my study. I will further ensure credibility by member checking the virtual interview. I will plan a second virtual interview to allow the participant to review their responses. Within one week, I will send the participant an email with the transcribed interview.

Member checking

I will thank the participant for agreeing to speak with me a second time to validate the responses during the virtual interview. After the participant has reviewed the transcribed virtual interview, I will verify with the participant the accuracy of their responses and give the participant the opportunity to give additional responses if needed.

Thank you for participating in my study.

Kecia Ballen

Appendix B: Letter

Dear Participant,

My name is Kecia Ballen and I am a doctoral candidate in the Doctor of Business Administration program with a specialization in global supply chain management at Walden University. I would like to interview you for my study Strategies for Minimizing Defects in Outsourced Products. The purpose of my study is to explore strategies of organizations leaders who fabricate parts and identify defects in products before fulfilling customers 'orders to the manufacturing industry. I will use pseudonyms in my study and any publications to protect the privacy and identity of the participants to ensure confidentiality.

Attached please find a consent form. If you decide to participate in this study, please respond "I consent" to this email. I will share a summary of my study results and suggestions with you and your managers, which may provide additional information to your organization's strategies.

Thank you for your consideration

Kecia Ballen